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change the way orthopaedic care is delivered.
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Patients have a passion to live. 
Zimmer is leading advances in orthopaedics —
including Minimally Invasive SolutionsTM (MIS)
Procedures and Technologies — to help 
patients maintain the lifestyles they enjoy.

Surgeons have a passion to heal. 
Zimmer offers effective solutions — along with
access to information, transfer of skill sets, 
and support — to give surgeons confidence that
they’re providing the highest-quality patient 
care possible.

Zimmer has a passion to be the best. 
For patients, surgeons, and shareholders, 
Zimmer means leadership, quality, and innovation
in orthopaedics. We help surgeons help patients
live life big.
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SALES OPERATING PROFIT* OPERATING CASH FLOW 

(Dollars in millions) (Dollars in millions) (Dollars in millions)

Financial Highlights (Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Reported) (Pro forma)*

2002 2001 2002 2001

Sales $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,372.4 $1,178.6

Operating Profit $ 400.9 $ 248.3 $ 400.9 $ 318.3

Earnings Per Share — Diluted $ 1.31 $ 0.77 $ 1.31 $ 0.98

SALES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION (Reported) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Americas $ 932.9 $ 790.7 $ 655.4 $ 587.9 $ 558.6

Asia Pacific $ 269.6 $ 255.2 $ 264.5 $ 235.3 $ 189.5

Europe $ 169.9 $ 132.7 $ 120.7 $ 115.7 $ 112.7

Consolidated $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6 $ 938.9 $ 860.8

SALES BY MARKET (Reported) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Reconstructive Implants $1,061.7 $ 886.5 $ 764.5 $ 679.1 $ 609.0

Trauma $ 133.8 $ 128.3 $ 123.4 $ 112.8 $ 102.8

Orthopaedic Surgical Products $ 176.9 $ 163.8 $ 152.7 $ 147.0 $ 149.0

Consolidated $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6 $ 938.9 $ 860.8
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*The company is presenting 2001 financial information on a pro forma basis which excludes costs of separation incurred in its 2001 spin-off from its former parent and includes 
a full year of interest expense to derive 2001 pro forma earnings per share. The company believes this presentation provides more meaningful comparisons in understanding the
current financial performance. 
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ZIMMER AT A GLANCE

Company Profile

Zimmer Holdings, Inc., (NYSE: ZMH) is a global leader in the design, manufacture, and distribution 
of reconstructive implants, trauma products, and related orthopaedic surgical products. Zimmer 
is a global company, with more than one-third of our sales outside of the domestic market. Zimmer
has operations in 20 countries and sells products in more than 70 countries. The Zimmer brand
represents excellence in our industry and the highest-quality products and services. 

We are one of the fastest-growing and most profitable of the major orthopaedic companies. 
In 2002, we recorded net sales of $1.372 billion and net earnings of $258 million. Since 1998, 
we have delivered a compound annual sales growth rate of approximately 13 percent. 

SALES BY REGION SALES BY MARKET 

� AMERICAS 
With sales of $933 million, an
increase of 18 percent over prior
year, the Americas led the com-
pany in overall sales dollar growth.
13 percent of this growth resulted
from increases in volume and mix,
while 5 percent resulted from price
increases. For the year, knees
increased 24 percent, hips 17 
percent and trauma 10 percent.
The United States accounts for 
the vast majority of sales in 
this region. 

The U.S. sales force consists of 26
independent distributors with more
than 650 sales associates, sales
managers, and sales support per-
sonnel, all of whom sell Zimmer
products exclusively. 100 percent
of our U.S. distributors delivered 
double-digit growth for the year,
and 10 distributors grew in excess
of 20 percent.

� ASIA PACIFIC
Sales of $270 million for the year
represent an increase of 6 percent
(8 percent constant currency) over
prior year. Knee and hip growth
increased in constant currency 
well above the market growth 
at 11 percent and 14 percent,
respectively, offset by trauma.
Japan is Zimmer’s largest foreign
market and accounts for the
majority of sales in this region. 

In Japan and most countries in
this region, Zimmer maintains 
a network of dealers and approxi-
mately 400 sales associates and
sales support personnel who build
and maintain strong relationships
with leading orthopaedic surgeons
in their markets.

� EUROPE
Sales of $170 million for the 
year represent an increase of 
28 percent (23 percent constant
currency) over prior year. Knee 
and hip growth increased in 
constant currency well above 
the market growth at 22 percent
and 28 percent, respectively.
France, Germany, Italy, Spain 
and the United Kingdom account
for approximately 75 percent of
sales in the region. In addition,
Zimmer operates in other key 
markets such as the Benelux,
Nordic, Switzerland, and emerging
regions.

Zimmer’s sales force in this 
region is comprised of independent
distributors, commissioned agents,
and approximately 200 direct sales
associates and sales support 
personnel.

� RECONSTRUCTIVE
IMPLANTS
Orthopaedic reconstructive
implants restore function lost 
due to disease or trauma in joints
such as knees, hips, shoulders,
and elbows.

Zimmer ranked second in the
global knee implant market* with
2002 sales of $586 million.

Zimmer ranked third in the global
hip implant market* with 2002
sales of $441 million.

� SPINE/TRAUMA
Trauma products are devices 
used primarily to reattach or 
stabilize damaged bone and 
tissue to support the body’s 
natural healing process.

Zimmer ranked fourth in the 
global trauma products market*
with 2002 sales of $134 million.

� ORTHOPAEDIC 
SURGICAL PRODUCTS
This business segment manufac-
tures and markets other products
used by surgeons for orthopaedic
and general surgery procedures.

*Estimates from industry sources. 

AMERICAS 68%

ASIA PACIFIC 20%

EUROPE 12%

RECONSTRUCTIVE 77%
IMPLANTS

TRAUMA 10%

ORTHOPAEDIC 13%
SURGICAL PRODUCTS

GEOGRAPHIC REGIONS BUSINESS UNITS



To Our Shareholders:

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

In 2002, Zimmer Holdings, Inc. continued to build
on the excitement and momentum of our 2001
spin-off as an independent, public company. We 
are clearly distinguishing Zimmer in the minds of
orthopaedic surgeons by delivering on our brand
promise — Confidence in your hands — and as 
the company most keenly focused on generating
improved patient quality of life outcomes. Helping
patients to Live Life Big has driven meaningful
market share gains and outstanding financial 
performance. Here are just a few milestones and
achievements of 2002.

A BIG YEAR FOR ZIMMER

� We celebrated two key milestones in 2002 —
the 75th anniversary of our founding in 1927 and,
on August 7, 2002, the first anniversary of our
becoming a publicly traded company.

� Zimmer became the first company to record, since
inception, its 1,000,000th knee implantation in the
United States. Our growth in knee sales continues
to outpace the competition by a sizable margin.

� Zimmer reached more than $1 billion in recon-
structive sales, underscoring our strength in this
growing product segment. Share gains in all major
served market segments demonstrated our sound
strategies and superior execution.

� Our Minimally Invasive Solutions products and
procedures have made Zimmer the acknowledged
leader in minimally invasive joint replacement. We
will launch The Zimmer Institute this year to make
the patient benefits of MIS even more widely
available (see page 11).

� Investors applauded our efforts by generating 
a 36% increase in Zimmer’s share price — one 
of the top five gains among NYSE large-cap 
companies for 2002.

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS

Net sales for 2002 grew 16% to $1.372 billion. 
Net earnings for the year increased 35% over 2001
pro forma* to $258 million. Net earnings reached
the milestone ratio of 20% of sales in the fourth
quarter. Operating profit margins for the year were
29%, led by the fourth quarter’s 30% operating
profit. Diluted earnings per share for 2002 increased
34% (70% on a reported basis) to $1.31 over 2001
pro forma.*

Our strategy of combining quality earnings
with the industry’s best working capital and asset 

management has served us well. We reduced net
debt, from $450 million incurred at the time of our
spin-off in August 2001 to $141 million at the end of
2002. Without acquisitions, our net debt should go
to zero by the end of 2003.

Our business in the Americas continued to 
lead Zimmer in dollar sales growth, with an 18%
increase to $933 million. Sales in our Asia Pacific
business grew by 6% (8% in constant currency) 
to $270 million. Sales in our European business 
grew by 28% (23% in constant currency) to almost
$170 million. Reconstructive product sales
increased 20% on a very large base and against
difficult prior-year comparisons, to $1.062 billion.
Knee sales led the reconstructive category with 
an increase of 22% (21% in constant currency). 

Our Research and Development investment
remained at the top of our class, as R&D expendi-
tures of more than $80 million put us near our
ongoing target ratio of 6% of total sales. That R&D
effort represents approximately 40 major projects
that we believe will help fuel growth. Orthopaedics
is a new-product driven industry, and we intend to
invest heavily to continue to drive profitable sales
growth in the future, while expanding our leadership.

AN EVEN BIGGER FUTURE

Our focus on helping patients Live Life Big will drive
continued leadership in MIS procedures and product
development. After opening our Zimmer Institute
in April 2003, we plan to provide training this year
to more than 500 surgeons in the MIS 2-Incision
Hip Replacement Procedure. We will be rolling out
new products across our business, including many
that feature Trabecular MetalTM Technology, the
most notable advance in porous fixation materials
in more than 20 years. With the creation of two
separate business units in late 2002, we are 
positioned to execute our strategy of entering 
the spinal market through focused acquisitions 
and internal development. In other words, 
what kind of year do we expect 2003 to be? 
Even Bigger!

Ray Elliott
Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer
January 31, 2003

*2001 pro forma excludes separation costs and includes full interest expense in each 

period presented. 3

“We are clearly 

distinguishing Zimmer in 

the minds of orthopaedic 

surgeons by delivering 

on our brand promise —

Confidence in your hands.”
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THE PASSION OF PATIENTS

A Passion to



Patients want new orthopaedic 
solutions that will allow them to 
live life to the fullest, overcoming
the barriers of arthritis or trauma.

New lease on life for patients, new era for orthopaedics

The oldest of the baby boomers will celebrate their 58th birthday in 2003. 
Longer lives and more active lifestyles are creating new patient demands 
for orthopaedics. 

Zimmer is responding. The NexGen® LPS-Flex Knee System, for example,
is designed to safely accommodate active knee flexion up to 155 degrees
for patients who have the ability and desire to perform high-flexion activities. 

As people live longer, there’s also growing demand for revision —
replacement or repair of an implant from a previous procedure. We’re 
developing improved revision products with our Trabecular Metal
Technology —“the best thing next to bone.TM”

MIS — It’s about living life big

Zimmer is leading the most exciting orthopaedic breakthrough in decades:
Minimally Invasive Solutions Procedures and Technologies.

MIS procedures are not just about small incisions for orthopaedic
patients, they’re about dramatically improved quality of life. Zimmer’s work
on MIS technologies has already made it possible for hundreds of patients
to undergo a total hip replacement, or a total or partial knee replacement —
many of whom go home the same day! For a full description of MIS
technology, please see page 11.

Innovation to meet patient needs

Zimmer’s investment in R&D as a percentage of sales is the highest in
orthopaedics — about 6 percent. Our product development teams rely upon
extensive input from a large group of renowned orthopaedic surgeons. 
In 2002, we released 20 major projects from our new product pipeline 
to further expand our comprehensive portfolio.

Zimmer is meeting the demands of patients in global markets. Our 
development teams include surgeons from many countries, and product
designs reflect diverse surgical philosophies. In 2002, we adopted a strategy
that builds on our strong Zimmer brand around the world.

For more on Zimmer products, please see page 10.

5

live.
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THE PASSION OF SURGEONS

A Passion to
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Surgeons strive to provide the best
for patients, restoring function 
as fully and as quickly as possible.
For surgeons: Confidence in your hands

Zimmer gives surgeons confidence that they’re providing the highest-quality 
patient care. We respond to surgeons’ needs and ideas with new orthopaedic
products, instrumentation, and procedures. We offer extensive skill develop-
ment and ongoing support, and we facilitate access to some of the world’s
leading orthopaedic surgeons.

In an independent survey of U.S. orthopaedic surgeons in 2002, Zimmer
was ranked the No.1 company in 10 of 11 categories related to products and 
service, and the No.1 company overall serving the joint-replacement surgeon.

Zimmer Institute: hands-on skill development 

The Zimmer Institute demonstrates our firm commitment to hands-on skill
development opportunities for surgeons. 

The Institute’s main facility — opening in April 2003 — provides an 
academic environment with surgical operating labs, training suites, and global
transmission capability. We’re also engaging world-renowned participating
academic institutions and a preeminent group of leading surgeons to provide
consistently high-quality training at satellite locations around the world. 

In August 2002, Zimmer webcast an MIS partial knee replacement
surgery to more than 500 surgeons around the world. We’ll continue to 
use this technology for convenient, effective training opportunities.

Experienced, knowledgeable support for surgeons

Surgeons want information and support to help them achieve the best 
possible patient outcomes. They receive it from Zimmer’s experienced 
and knowledgeable representatives.

Our U.S. network of independent sales agents fosters long-term 
relationships. Most distributors have been with Zimmer for more than 
25 years; the average tenure of sales representatives exceeds 10 years. 

Globally, we make a significant investment in training for all of our 
representatives, so they’re ready to answer a surgeon’s urgent questions. 
In fact, they’re exposed to the same training and knowledge on Zimmer
innovations — products, procedures, and technologies — as surgeons. 
As we continue to expand our sales force worldwide, we’re also increasing
its specialization, including the addition of trauma specialists.

heal.
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THE PASSION OF Z IMMER

A Passion to be the
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Zimmer employees are driven to provide 
high-quality products for patients and 
unmatched support for surgeons.

The best for surgeons and patients

With a 75-year history of positive outcomes for surgeons and patients, 
Zimmer is one of the most trusted brands in orthopaedics. As we look to
the future, innovative technologies will allow surgeons to provide a whole
new level of benefits for orthopaedic patients. We’ll continue to expand 
our industry-leading portfolio by helping surgeons manage clinical issues 
in revision arthroplasty and primaries, as well as everyday trauma.

At our Web sites — zimmer.com and pacewithlife.com — patients 
can learn about new product and procedure options for orthopaedics 
and can get in touch with surgeons.

The best for Zimmer shareholders

Our focus on patients and surgeons drives winning results for Zimmer 
shareholders. In 2002, the price of Zimmer stock increased 36 percent —
the fifth-largest percentage gain among large-cap companies on the 
New York Stock Exchange (please see chart at left).

Zimmer has a track record of outperforming the industry, with 
reconstructive product sales in 2002 growing 30 to 40 percent faster. 
In 2002, strong growth in Europe and continued strength in the Americas
contributed to a sales increase of 16 percent.

A passion to be the best drives us forward 

We’re driving strong growth in 2003. At the beginning of 2002, our 
product pipeline included 40 major projects. Twenty projects were 
completed and released during 2002.

In MIS technologies, we’re moving on all fronts — product develop-
ment, instrumentation, computer-aided orthopaedic surgery, clinical 
protocols, and surgical training. We intend to achieve broad introduction
of several MIS procedures this year.

Our new trauma products have established Zimmer as a leader in this
area, and we intend to establish a strong position in the growing spine 
segment through acquisitions. Most of all, though, Zimmer is about people.
We expect to win and we believe winning best serves all of our constituents
from the patients and surgeons, to our shareholders and employees. 

best.

UP 36%
TO $41.52
DECEMBER 31, 2002

$30.54
DECEMBER 31, 2001

*ZMH started the year with market value of just under $6 billion. 
  Source: Wall Street Journal, January 2, 2003.

D J F M A M J J A S O N D

STOCK PRICE

FIFTH-LARGEST 
GAIN AMONG 
NYSE LARGE-CAP
COMPANIES*



KEY PRODUCTS AND INNOVATION

Key Products

Commitment to Product Innovation

Since 1997, Zimmer has tripled 
its new product output. A strong 
commitment to innovative product
development has resulted in a
broad and deep product pipeline.
In 2002, new products (i.e., 
products introduced on a rolling 
36-month basis) represented 
18 percent of total sales.

Zimmer product development 
is advancing several projects 
with broad applications across 
our businesses:

Minimally Invasive SolutionsTM

Procedures and Technologies. 
The primary focus of these solu-
tions is hip and knee replacements
(see page 11).

�6 Trabecular MetalTM

Technology. This cellular structure
application to primary and revision
procedures is used with an
expanded range of implants 
that allow for bone ingrowth.

Zimmer® Ortho Guidance Systems.
This computer-aided surgery 
navigation for MIS Techniques
helps surgeons to work precisely.
In 2002, Zimmer entered into 
an exclusive partnership with
Medtronic to develop minimally
invasive orthopaedic applications
for image guidance systems.

The following are additional key
development projects in each of
the major product areas:

RECONSTRUCTIVE IMPLANTS
Implant innovations include 
applications and enhancements 
of products and technologies 
identified above, including 
Epoch Technologies, the NexGen
CR-Flex Knee, and the Advanced
Bigliani/Flatow Shoulder. 

CPT® 12/14 Hip System. A design
with proven reliability, this system
has been expanded with more 
sizing and offset options.

TRAUMA
Zimmer Periarticular Plates 
with fixed angle screws. Our 
most innovative plate line, these
plates will allow surgeons to 
treat even more complex 
fractures with stable results. 

Transformation TechnologyTM

Products for proximal femoral frac-
tures. This technology will permit
less invasive treatment of the
most common fracture in the body.

ORTHOPAEDIC SURGICAL PRODUCTS
Improved blood management
devices include disposable auto-
transfusion systems that support
Zimmer’s reconstructive implant
and trauma management product
systems in the operating room
environment. 

KNEE

�1 NexGen® Complete Knee
Solution (CR, LPS, LPS-Flex and
Revision Knee Systems, including
LCCK, CRA, and RHK). These com-
prehensive knee replacement sys-
tems allow physicians to create
solutions specific to each patient.

M/GTM Unicompartmental Knee.
With a 98 percent implant survival 
rate at 10 years post-surgery, 
MIS instrumentation now allows
surgeons to perform accurate pro-
cedures through a small incision.

�5 ProlongTM Highly Crosslinked
Polyethylene. This bearing surface
material for total knee replacement
offers improved wear performance
and resistance to delamination.

UPPER EXTREMITY 

�3 Bigliani/Flatow® The
Complete Shoulder Solution 
and Coonrad/Morrey Total Elbow.
Both systems offer a variety of
implants and instrumentation to
meet different surgical philoso-
phies and patient needs.

HIP

�2 VerSys® Hip System. This
integrated family of hip products
offers design-specific options to
meet varying surgical philosophies
and patient needs. 

Epoch® Hip Prosthesis. This
unique composite design allows 
normal stress to be placed on
bones while potentially providing
extensive fixation and reduced
thigh pain. 

Trilogy® Acetabular System. 
This family of products offers
patients and surgeons innovative
options, including Longevity
Liners and versatile shell compo-
nent designs and instrumentation.
The acetabular constrained liners
are an improved technology for 
hip revision procedures. 

�5 Longevity® Highly Crosslinked
Polyethylene. This synthetic 
material is processed to provide
wear characteristics significantly
better than those of standard 
polyethylene. Longevity Polyethylene
has become Zimmer’s most popu-
lar articulating surface, represent-
ing 85 percent of all acetabular
liner sales. 

TRAUMA 

M/DN® Intramedullary Fixation
System. A nailing system for inter-
nal fixation of long bone fractures,
this product offers multiple screw
options for increased surgical 
flexibility. 

�4 ITST TM Intertrochanteric/
Subtrochanteric Fixation. This sys-
tem permits less invasive fixation
of femoral fractures that were 
traditionally repaired with more
invasive compression hip screws. 

Zimmer® Periarticular Plating
System. These precontoured 
fracture fixation plates can 
be accurately fitted, with 
additional anatomical locations
now available.

ORTHOPAEDIC 
SURGICAL PRODUCTS

OrthoPAT ®* Autotransfusion
System. This blood management
system with patented disposable
components is used to clean 
and process blood during open
surgeries. 

ATS® Automatic Tourniquet
System. Zimmer’s leading line of
tourniquet systems was enhanced
and expanded with the new 
ATS 1200 Tourniquet System.

Pulsavac® Wound Debridement
System. This product is used for
surgical excision of tissue and 
foreign matter from wounds. 
It includes the Pulsavac Plus
Wound Debridement System, 
a variable-powered, fully 
disposable lavage system. 

*Trademark of Haemonetics Corporation

RECONSTRUCTIVE
IMPLANTS
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MINIMALLY INVASIVE SOLUTIONS

Zimmer is the industry leader in Minimally Invasive
Solutions Procedures and Technologies for ortho-
paedics. We established that lead with a comprehen-
sive MIS program that is now in its fourth year of
development. Minimally invasive surgery in other
medical specialties has created a revolution in surgical
practice and technology, such as arthroscopy. Patients
are experiencing less tissue trauma, less pain, shorter
hospital stays, and faster recovery times than were
ever imaginable only a few years ago.

Zimmer’s MIS program is not about incision 
size. Small incision size is neither new, nor is it the
essence of the potential that MIS technologies hold.
Dramatically improved patient quality of life is all
about lifestyle expectations — less pain and medica-
tion, more rapid recovery, and return to normal daily
activities.

We believe that Zimmer is at the forefront of 
providing surgeons the skills and tools necessary for
MIS “home the same day” joint surgery for appropriate
patients. What’s more, we believe we can substan-
tially reduce overall costs to the health care system
by changing the way orthopaedic care is delivered.

ZIMMER’S COMMITMENT TO MIS
Zimmer launched its first Minimally Invasive
Solutions technology effort late in 2000 with the
availability of new MIS instrumentation and a MIS
surgical technique for unicondylar knee surgery.
Since that time, growth for this procedure has been
dramatic, due in part to huge patient demand. Today,
in addition to the MIS “Uni” Knee procedure, Zimmer
offers the MIS Mini-Incision Total Knee and the MIS
Mini- and 2-Incision Total Hip Procedures. Zimmer is
also developing new MIS procedures for hip fracture,
upper extremity applications, and orthopaedic
trauma treatment.

We believe the potential patient benefits of MIS
technologies to be so compelling that we’ve made
substantial investments in R&D over the past three
years, establishing a strong lead. During 2003 alone,
Zimmer will invest more than $20 million in these
procedures and technologies.

Our position is further strengthened by a long-
term exclusive partnership with Medtronic — the
global leader in surgical image guidance systems 
used for navigation in minimally invasive surgery.

CHANGING THE LANDSCAPE 
MIS procedures in development — the Zimmer 
MIS 2-Incision Hip and Zimmer MIS Quad-Sparing
Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA) Procedures — 
will truly change the landscape of orthopaedics. 
We began the launch of the MIS Mini-Incision Hip
Procedure in 2002. The MIS Mini-Incision Knee, 

the MIS 2-Incision Hip, and the MIS Quad-Sparing
TKA procedures, which are being introduced in
2003, have the potential to reduce tissue disruption,
rehabilitation, and hospital stays dramatically.

The promise of these procedures is evident in
successful outcomes for real patients. By year-end
2002, leading surgeons had performed more than 
300 total hip replacements using Zimmer’s MIS
2-Incision Procedure, and more than 60 Zimmer 
MIS Quad-Sparing TKA Procedures utilizing the
NexGen LPS-Flex Total Knee.

On September 18, 2002, ABC’s World News
Tonight with Peter Jennings broadcast a report 
on the MIS 2-Incision Hip Replacement Procedure 
to 11 million viewers. The report featured a surgery
performed in Chicago. The patient was discharged
before 5 p.m. the same day and to date experienced
no complications (during or following the surgery).
Hip replacement patients in the United States 
typically experience hospital stays of three to five
days following surgery.

MIS RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
A key focus for Zimmer is development of MIS proce-
dures and associated instrumentation. By year-end
2002, Zimmer, working with leading surgeons, had
completed extensive preparations for broad introduc-
tion of advanced MIS procedures. These include
detailed surgical manuals and technique rationales,
patient selection criteria, innovative MIS periopera-
tive and anesthesia protocols, reduced MIS pain 
medication protocols, training materials, and more.

The Zimmer Institute is designed to provide the resources surgeons 
need to realize the promise of minimally invasive orthopaedics.

THE ZIMMER INSTITUTE
Surgeons deserve the highest level of medical edu-
cation and advanced MIS skills training. Our new
state-of-the-art Zimmer Institute will provide surgeons
with the training resources necessary to capitalize on
the promise of minimally invasive orthopaedics. The
Institute will bring together a preeminent Advisory
Board of leading surgeons who will work with us to
develop the curricula and knowledge transfer meth-
ods to optimize training for orthopaedic surgeons
around the world. Satellite transmission and world-
renowned participating academic institutions will
extend that capability. 

Zimmer offers orthopaedic
patient information online at
www.pacewithlife.com and at
hospitals nationwide through
our Mobile Learning Center —
which also provides education
for hospital surgeons and staff.

Leadership in Minimally Invasive Orthopaedics

ABC’s World News Tonight
with Peter Jennings featured 
the Zimmer MIS 2-Incision 
Hip Replacement Procedure.

ABC NEW
S / W

ORLD NEW
S TONIGHT

For surgeons, the development 
of new skills is a never-ending
process. At Zimmer Institute, they
can learn the latest techniques in
minimally invasive orthopaedics.
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A HISTORY OF EXCELLENCE

1927
Justin O. Zimmer and
J.J. Ettinger form the
Zimmer Manufacturing
Company in Warsaw,
Indiana. They introduce
a line of 50 aluminum
splints that becomes the
immediate leader in its
field. Zimmer achieves
sales of $160,000 in its
first year.

Early orthopaedic instrument set

1930s 
Zimmer adds the
Steinmann pin product
line, which is still a
mainstay in traction 
and external fixation,
along with Kirschner
nails, Bohler-Braun
splints, and other 
Bohler devices. Zimmer
responds to the polio
epidemic by custom 
fabricating braces to
patient measurements.
By 1942, Zimmer annual
sales top $1 million.

1950s 
Zimmer markets its first
hip prosthesis, devel-
oped in association with
Dr. Palmer Eicher. In the
next two years, Zimmer
introduces a highly suc-
cessful non-orthopaedic
device, the Brown
Electro-Dermatome®

Powered Skin Graft
Instrument, and the
Harrington® Spinal
Instrumentation for
treatment of scoliosis.

1960s 
Zimmer annual sales
reach $4 million. Later 
in the decade, Zimmer
becomes a truly interna-
tional company with the
establishment of a for-
mal Export Department.

1970s 
Zimmer becomes a 
subsidiary of New York-
based Bristol-Myers (now
Bristol-Myers Squibb)
in 1972. The same year,
Zimmer becomes the
first company to mold
polyethylene successfully
into a viable orthopaedic
product — molded hip
cups. They were intro-
duced at the American
Academy of Orthopaedic
Surgeons annual meet-
ing. In 1973, Zimmer
markets its first metal-
plastic total knee pros-
thesis.

Taking advantage of a warm spring
day in May 1936, J.O. Zimmer and
his employees gather outside the
Detroit Street factory for a group
portrait — the earliest known 
company photograph.

In 1984, Zimmer launches 
The Total System, a successful 
modular hip replacement system.

1980s 
Zimmer sponsors 
the first-ever satellite
telesession of a live
arthroscopy surgery 
in 1983, beamed to 
27 cities and more than
1,000 surgeons. In 1984,
Zimmer launches The
Total System, a success-
ful modular hip replace-
ment system. In the
same year, Zimmer intro-
duces the Miller/Galante
Total Knee, a modular
system to replace arthritic
knees. By 1987, Zimmer
sales top $500 million.

1990s 
In 1992, Zimmer com-
pletes a new corporate
headquarters building in
Warsaw, Indiana, and in
1993 opens a manufac-
turing facility in Ponce,
Puerto Rico. In 1994,
Zimmer introduces the
NexGen Complete Knee
Solution, a totally inte-
grated system. In 1998,
Zimmer announces an
agreement to market
crosslinked polyethylene
which is designed to
improve the wear per-
formance of implant
components. In 1999,
Zimmer sponsors the
first-ever live Internet
broadcast of knee
replacement surgery. 

2000 
Zimmer forms a 
strategic alliance with
Implex Corporation 
to design, develop, 
and commercialize a
Trabecular Metal struc-
ture, consisting of an
innovative porous 
tantalum biomaterial
that allows for bone
ingrowth. Zimmer also
accelerates development
of MIS technologies and
executes a national cam-
paign to inform and edu-
cate consumers about
MIS procedures for par-
tial knee replacements.

2001 

Zimmer is spun off from 
Bristol-Myers Squibb and begins
trading on the New York Stock
Exchange on August 7, 2001, 
under the ticker symbol “ZMH.”

2002 
Zimmer sales reach 
$1.4 billion, worldwide
employment tops 3,600
and Zimmer becomes
the first company to sell
one million knee implants
in the United States.

Celebrating 75 Years: 1927 – 2002

In its first full year as a “new” stand-alone company, Zimmer 
celebrates the 75th anniversary of its founding and a 75-year heritage
of quality and trust in orthopaedics.

The circle Z logomark 
has been used in some 
form since the company’s 
inception. It remains one 
of the most recognized 
symbols of quality and 
service in the medical 
marketplace.

1927

1930s

1940s

1950s

1960s to 
present
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This annual report contains certain statements that are forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities
laws. When used in this report, the words ‘‘may,’’ ‘‘will,’’ ‘‘should,’’ ‘‘anticipate,’’ ‘‘estimate,’’ ‘‘expect,’’ ‘‘plan,’’ ‘‘believe,’’ ‘‘predict,’’
‘‘potential,’’ ‘‘intend’’ and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. These risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, price and product competition, rapid technological development, demographic
changes, dependence on new product development, the mix of products and services, customer demand for products and
services, the ability to successfully integrate acquired companies, control of costs and expenses, the ability to form and
implement alliances, changes in reimbursement programs by third-party payors, effects of complying with applicable
governmental regulations, product liability and intellectual property litigation losses, general industry and market conditions and
growth rates and general domestic and international economic conditions including interest rate and currency exchange rate
fluctuations. Readers of this report are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, since, while
the Company believes the assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, there can be no
assurance that these forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate. This cautionary statement is applicable to all forward-
looking statements contained in this report and the material accompanying this report which comprise the Company’s annual
report to stockholders.
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Part I

ITEM 1. Business 

GENERAL GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS

Zimmer Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was The Company has operations in 20 countries and markets
incorporated on January 12, 2001, as a wholly-owned subsidi- products in more than 70 countries, with headquarters in
ary of Bristol-Myers Squibb Company as part of a previously Warsaw, Indiana, and manufacturing, distribution and ware-
announced plan by Bristol-Myers Squibb to create a separate housing and/or office facilities in more than 50 locations
company relating to the design, development, manufacture worldwide. The Company manages its operations through
and marketing of orthopaedic reconstructive implants, trauma three major geographic areas – the Americas, which is com-
products and other products used for orthopaedic and general prised principally of the United States and includes other
surgery. Zimmer, Inc., the Company’s predecessor founded in North, Central and South American markets; Asia Pacific,
1927, was acquired by Bristol-Myers Squibb in 1972 and along which is comprised primarily of Japan and includes other
with its wholly-owned subsidiaries and certain other Bristol- Asian and Pacific markets; and Europe, which is comprised
Myers Squibb operations comprised the orthopaedics business principally of Europe and includes the Middle East and Africa.
of Bristol-Myers Squibb. Unless the context requires other- Information about geographic segments can be found in
wise, the terms ‘‘Company’’ and ‘‘Zimmer’’ as used herein refer Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which are
to Zimmer Holdings, Inc. and all of its subsidiaries and the included herein under Item 8.
predecessor orthopaedics business operated under Bristol- Company products are distributed in these regions
Myers Squibb. primarily through networks of agents and distributors who

On July 25, 2001, Bristol-Myers Squibb transferred the market and sell to orthopaedic surgeons, third party distribu-
assets and liabilities of its orthopaedic business to the tors, hospitals and surgery centers, among others.
Company. On August 6, 2001, Bristol-Myers Squibb distrib- The Company’s primary customers include orthopaedic
uted all of the shares of the Company’s common stock to surgeons, hospitals and healthcare purchasing organizations
Bristol-Myers Squibb stockholders in the form of a dividend or buying groups. These customers range from large multina-
of one share of Company common stock, and the associated tional enterprises to independent surgeons. A majority of U.S.
preferred stock purchase right, for every ten shares of Bristol- hospitals and surgeons belong to at least one group purchas-
Myers Squibb common stock (‘‘Distribution’’ or ‘‘Separation’’). ing organization. No individual end user accounted for over
Bristol-Myers Squibb received a ruling from the Internal 1.0 percent of net sales.
Revenue Service that the transfer of the orthopaedic business The Company utilizes more than 1,300 sales associates,
to the Company and the subsequent distribution of all sales managers and support personnel, some of whom are
Company common stock to Bristol-Myers Squibb stockholders employed by independent distributors. The Company invests
qualified as a tax free transaction. a significant amount of time and expense in providing training

The Company’s Internet website is www.zimmer.com. The in such areas as product features and benefits, how to use
Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on specific products and how to best assist surgeons. The
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to presence of sales representatives is deemed by surgeons and
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or hospitals to be necessary in a high number of procedures and
15(d) of the Exchange Act are available or may be accessed the extensive sales training provided by the Company enables
free of charge through the Investor Relations section of the representatives, when requested, to make meaningful contri-
Company’s internet website as soon as reasonably practicable butions during surgeries. Sales force representatives rely
after the Company electronically files such material with, or heavily on strong technical selling skills, medical education
furnishes it to, the SEC. The Company’s internet website and and in-surgery staff technical support.
the information contained therein or connected thereto are In response to the different healthcare systems through-
not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on out the world, the Company’s sales and marketing strategies
Form 10-K. and organizational structures differ by region. The Company

has, however, carefully integrated a global approach to
salesforce training, marketing and medical education into
each locality to provide consistent, high quality service. The
Company sponsors more than 300 medical education events
each year for and with orthopaedic surgeons around the
world.

The Americas is the largest region, accounting for
approximately 68 percent of 2002 sales, with the United
States accounting for the vast majority of sales in this region.

3
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The U.S. salesforce consists of 26 independent distributors zation of the joint. While some knee implant designs, called
with more than 650 sales associates, sales managers and sales cruciate retaining designs, require the retention of the
support personnel, all of whom sell Company products posterior cruciate ligament, other designs, called posterior
exclusively. Also, the Company has concentrated on negotiat- stabilized designs, provide joint stability without the posterior
ing contracts with buying groups and managed care accounts cruciate ligament. There are also procedures for partial
and has increased unit growth by linking the level of discount reconstruction of the knee, which treat limited knee degener-
received to sales growth. ation and involve the replacement of only one side or

The Asia Pacific region accounted for approximately compartment of the knee with a unicompartmental knee
20 percent of 2002 sales with Japan being the largest foreign prosthesis. The Company offers a wide range of products for
market, accounting for the majority of sales in this region. specialized knee procedures, including the following brands:
In Japan and most countries in the Asia Pacific region, the

NexGen˛ Complete Knee Solution. The NexGen knee
Company maintains a network of dealers and approximately

product line is a comprehensive system for knee replace-
400 sales associates and sales support personnel who build

ment surgery with a leading position in posterior stabi-
and maintain strong relationships with leading orthopaedic

lized and revision procedures. The NexGen knee system
surgeons in their markets.

offers joint stability and sizing that can be tailored to
The European region accounted for approximately

individual patient needs while providing surgeons with
12 percent of 2002 sales, with France, Germany, Italy, Spain

a unified system of interchangeable components. The
and the United Kingdom accounting for approximately 75 per-

NexGen knee system provides surgeons with complete
cent of sales in the region. In addition, the Company also

and versatile knee instrument options, including milling
operates in other key markets such as the Benelux, Nordic,

and multiple saw blade cutting instrument systems. The
Switzerland and emerging regions such as Russia, Central

breadth and versatility of the NexGen knee system allows
Europe, and Mediterranean markets. The Company’s sales-

surgeons to change from one type of implant to another
force in this region is also comprised of independent

during surgery, according to the needs of the patient,
distributors, commissioned agents, and approximately

and to support current surgical philosophies. The recent
200 direct sales associates and sales support personnel.

addition of Trabecular Metal
TM tibial implants in both

cruciate retaining and posterior stabilizing philosophies
PRODUCTS

continues the Company’s strategy to add new innovative
The Company is a global leader in the design, develop- technologies to this leading brand. Trabecular Metal is

ment, manufacture and marketing of orthopaedic reconstruc- a material that provides a dramatically higher level of
tive implants and trauma products. Orthopaedic porosity than existing alternatives, is similar in stiffness
reconstructive implants restore joint function lost due to and friction to natural bone and is believed to be a major
disease or trauma in joints such as knees, hips, shoulders, and advancement in orthopaedic materials. The Trabecular

elbows. Trauma products are devices used primarily to Metal technology is distributed by the Company under an
reattach or stabilize damaged bone or tissue to support the exclusive distribution and strategic alliance with Implex
body’s natural healing process. The Company also manufac- Corporation, as further described herein under Intellec-
tures and markets orthopaedic surgical products which tual Property.
include surgical supplies and instruments designed to aid in

The NexGen Complete Knee Solution Legacy˛ Knee-
orthopaedic surgical procedures.

Posterior Stabilized product line provides stability in the
Reconstructive Implants absence of the posterior cruciate ligament. The posterior

stabilized capabilities have recently been augmented
Reconstructive implants restore joint function lost due to

through the introduction of the NexGen Legacy Posterior
disease or trauma in joints such as knees, hips, shoulders and

Stabilized Flex Knee, a high-flexion implant that can
elbows. The majority of reconstructive implant procedures

potentially safely accommodate knee flexion up to a
restores joint function lost due to degenerative diseases such

155-degree range of motion in some patients when
as arthritis and relieve pain in knees and hips.

implanted using a specialized surgical technique.
Knee Implants

The NexGen Revision knee product line, consisting of
Total knee surgeries typically include a femoral compo- LCCK, RHK and CRA revision knee products, is designed

nent, a patella (knee cap), a tibial tray and an articulating with extensive options to accommodate the variable
surface (placed on the tibial tray). needs in revision procedures. These products accommo-

Knee replacement surgeries include first-time joint date more difficult procedures and are augmentable for
replacement procedures and revision procedures for the bone loss and provide increased constraint for patients
replacement, repair or enhancement of an implant product or with ligamentous instability. During 2002, the Rotating
component from a previous procedure. Knee implants are Hinge Knee was added to the line for optimal constraint
designed to accommodate different levels of ligament stabili- in more severe cases.

4
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M/G
TM Unicompartmental Knee System. The M/G uni of the VerSys stem platform allows for the incorporation

system boasts a 98 percent implant survival rate post- of technological developments, with the planned intro-
surgery at 10 years and applies the same flexibility and duction of approximately 340 new stems, some of which
quality of our other knee implant products to unicom- were launched in 2001 and 2002.
partmental, or single compartment disease. The M/G uni

ZMR
TM Hip System. The ZMR Revision Hip System,

system’s patented minimally invasive intramedullary
introduced in 2000 to address the porous modular

instrumentation, as well as its new minimally invasive
revision market, provides the versatility to accommodate

extramedullary instrumentation, offers accurate
varying fixation and sizing needs. The recent line exten-

alignment, precise cuts and secure fixation that provide
sion to the ZMR brand of over ninety additional implant

surgeons with the ability to accurately and efficiently
options creating over 10,800 possible combinations will

repair damage to joint surfaces of one knee compartment
enable surgeons to further address the difficult and

with predictable, reproducible results through a small
varying needs of their revision patients. Building on the

incision. The new minimally invasive instrumentation for
ZMR Revision Hip System, the recent launch of revision

the M/G uni system positions the Company to continue to
acetabular components will allow the Company to provide

lead and to capitalize on growing trends toward less
a comprehensive approach to revision hip surgery that

invasive surgical procedures.
matches its approach to revision knee surgery.

Prolong
TM Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Articular Sur-

Specialty Hips. To complement the broad capabilities of the
faces. The Prolong polyethylene is a new bearing surface

above hip brands, the Company offers a number of specialty
material for total knee replacement. In certain laboratory

hip products tailored to the needs of specific patient
tests that simulate joint function, it demonstrates

populations and geographic regions. The Mayo˛
1 Conserva-

reduced resistance to delamination compared to current
tive Hip Prosthesis, a novel, short-stemmed, porous femoral

standard polyethylene bearing material. The Food and
implant was developed for minimal bone removal. The CPT˛

Drug Administration has approved the additional claim of
Hip System, the cemented hip brand designed for both

‘‘resistance to delamination’’ for the Prolong polyethylene
primary and revision procedures, was tailored for countries

product. Most knee articulating surfaces only receive the
with a historical preference towards collarless, polished,

more general ‘‘resistance to wear’’ claim that clearly does
tapered products and a subsidence surgical philosophy. A key

not definitively address the primary mode of failure in
line extension to the CPT brand was launched late 2002 and

knees, which is sub-surface fatigue.
will be instrumental to the growth of this cemented stem line

Hip Implants that has a long and successful clinical record and is
important to growth in key markets such as Europe. In

Total hip replacement surgeries replace both the head of the
addition to CE Mark approval in Europe in 2000, the

femur and the socket portion of the pelvis (acetabulum) of the
Company has recently received regulatory approval in the

natural hip and include first time joint replacement procedures
United States for the Epoch˛ Hip Prosthesis product line,

and revision procedures for the replacement, repair or enhance-
which is comprised, in part, of a unique composite design

ment of an implant product or component from a previous
that allows the normal amount of anatomical stress to be

procedure. The femur is the long bone between the pelvis and the
placed on patients’ bones while still potentially providing

knee. The acetabulum is the cup-shaped portion of the pelvis.
extensive fixation and reduced thigh pain.

Historically, most hip implant procedures have involved the use of
bone cement to attach the prosthetic components to the Trilogy˛ Acetabular System. The Trilogy Acetabular
surrounding bone. Today, many femoral and acetabulum cup System, including titanium alloy shells, polyethylene
replacement components are porous which means they do not liners, screws and instruments, is a leading acetabular
require bone cement because bone can actually grow into, and cup system. The Trilogy family of products offers
onto, the implant surface. The Company’s hip replacement patients and surgeons innovative options and versatile
products are among the industry’s leading brands, which include: component designs and instrumentation. One option, the

Longevity˛ Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liner, is
VerSys˛ Hip System. The VerSys Hip System, a Zimmer

designed to reduce polyethylene debris associated with
flagship brand, is supported by a common instrumenta-

reconstructive implants. Polyethylene debris may cause
tion set and is an innovative, integrated family of hip

the degeneration of bone surrounding reconstructive
products that offers surgeons design-specific options to

implants, a painful condition called osteolysis. The
meet varying surgical philosophies and patient needs.

Trilogy Acetabular System also features a variety of
The VerSys Hip System includes the following features: a

top-quality fixation surfaces with a successful long-term
variety of stem designs and fixation options for both

history, including the application of fiber metal, a tita-
primary and revision situations, a modular design that

nium fiber mesh to biologically fix implants; these are
allows for a variety of femoral heads, optimal sizing
selections, and a common instrumentation set for use 1 Trademark of Mayo Foundation
with virtually all VerSys stems. In addition, the flexibility

5
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porous implants that do not require bone cement because Trauma

bone can actually grow into, and onto, the implant
Trauma products include devices used primarily to

surface. The Company has and continues to augment its
reattach or stabilize damaged bone and tissue to support the

offerings of porous reconstructive hip implants through
body’s natural healing process. The most common surgical

the introduction of Trabecular Metal technology, a
stabilization of bone fracture involves the internal fixation of

material that provides a dramatically higher level of
bone fragments. This stabilization can involve the use of a

porosity than existing alternatives, is similar in stiffness
wide assortment of plates, screws, rods, wires and pins. In

and friction to natural bone and is believed to be a major
addition, tissue attachment devices are used to treat soft

advancement in orthopaedic materials.
tissue trauma. The Company offers a comprehensive line

Minimally Invasive Solutions
TM (‘‘MIS’’). In 2001, the of products designed for use in the fixation of fractures,

Company announced that it had established a dedicated including hip fixation products, plates, screws, pins, wires and
business team to maximize the potential patient benefits nails. The recently expanded trauma product line enables the
of applying minimally invasive surgical techniques to Company to offer surgeons cost-effective quality products,
orthopaedic surgery. A distinct medical education pro- including:
cess, The Zimmer Institute, with a 15,000 square foot

M/DN˛ Intramedullary Fixation. The M/DN intramedullary
facility located in the Company’s global headquarters,

nailing system for the internal fixation of long bone
will open in early 2003 and will facilitate the training for

fractures incorporates implants and instruments to align
surgeons, sales associates and other medical professionals

and fix fractures of the tibia, femur and humerus. The
required for these innovative MIS procedures. The Com-

system has multiple screw options to provide increased
pany is currently working with several global medical

surgical flexibility. An innovative screw hole configuration
centers to evaluate and refine advanced minimally inva-

has expanded applications for the product. In addition,
sive knee and hip replacement procedures. The goals of

the introduction of a minimally invasive approach has
these efforts are to reduce the hardships of having a total

been developed to further expand the brand in the
hip replacement, such as the time a patient must spend

marketplace.
in rehabilitation, pain reduction and reduced lost time
from work. The Company’s MIS business team will focus Zimmer˛ Periarticular Plating System. The periarticular
both on further commercializing existing minimally inva- plating system, used to stabilize fractures near joints,
sive approaches and investigating ways to apply mini- permits fracture fixation plates to be accurately fitted to
mally invasive principles to additional procedures. One the anatomy of the periarticular, or joint, region of the
of the surgical approaches employed for the MIS hip bone. The system has expanded to include virtually all
procedure uses two small portals, each approximately regions of the anatomy including femur, tibia, humerus,
two inches in length. Standard implants are used in the radius, ulna and fibula.
procedure. The incision for a traditional, open hip

Zimmer Plates and Screws (‘‘ZPS’’). The ZPS internal
replacement is as much as 12 inches long. Other less

fracture fixation system is a comprehensive system of
invasive approaches such as a ‘‘mini’’ incision for hips

stainless steel plates, screws and instruments for internal
have been in place for four years with ‘‘mini’’ knees under

fracture compression. Because this system is compatible
development. An MIS total knee procedure is in full

with major competitive systems made by other market
development. The Company plans to double its invest-

participants, it affords surgeons added flexibility and
ment in MIS in 2003 to more than $20 million.

value.
Other Reconstructive Implants

Cable-Ready˛ Cable Grip System. The patented Cable-

The Coonrad/Morrey product line is a leading family Ready Cable Grip System encircles bone fragments with
of elbow replacement implant products and the Bigliani/ wire to hold them together. The system has an innovative
Flatow˛ The Complete Shoulder Solution product line gives mechanism that minimizes cable tension loss typical of
the Company a significant share of the global shoulder similar cable system devices.
implant market. These systems are designed to treat arthritic

ITST
TM Intertrochanteric/Subtrochanteric Fixation. The

conditions and fractures as well as to enhance the outcome
ITST line of nails and screws is part of the M/DN family

of primary or revision surgery. Both systems offer surgeons a
of intramedullary solutions for proximal femoral fractures.

wide variety of implants and instrumentation to accommodate
The implants expand the indications for use of an

differing surgical philosophies and patient needs with contin-
intramedullary device for fixing these types of fractures.

ued innovative line extensions being introduced to the market
The system also allows a more lateral surgical approach

for continued growth of these leading brands.
which is easier to use and is gaining popularity.
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Zimmer Cannulated Screws. A full range of cannulated PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

screws utilizing Biodur˛
2 108 stainless steel is the first

The Company is engaged in ongoing research and
product line on the market utilizing the new high

development to introduce clinically advanced new materials,
strength stainless steel. The strength allows larger

product designs and surgical techniques. The product devel-
cannulation which permits larger guide wires making

opment function is integrated with strategic brand marketing
surgery easier to perform.

and manufacturing efforts, which allows the Company to
Orthopaedic Surgical Products understand its customers’ needs and to respond more quickly

with top-quality products. The rapid commercialization of
The Company manufactures and markets other surgical

innovative new materials, product designs and surgical tech-
products, which surgeons use for both orthopaedic and non-

niques, one of the Company’s core strategies, has been an
orthopaedic procedures, including tourniquets, blood manage-

important driver of sales growth in recent years.
ment systems, wound debridement products, powered instru-

New products, procedures, techniques and instruments
ments for use in surgical procedures, traction devices and

introduced since 2000 include:
orthopaedic softgoods, which provide support and/or compres-

) MIS instrumentation for knee and hip proceduression for trauma of the knee, ankle, back and upper extremi-
including the M/G Unicompartmental Knee System andties, including the shoulder, elbow, neck and wrist. The
the ‘‘mini’’ incision hip procedure;Company has developed and intends to continue developing,

technologically advanced surgical products to support its ) expansion of the NexGen line including tibial and
reconstructive implant and trauma product systems in the femoral augments and stem extension for revisions;
operating room environment with a focus on blood and pain and articular surfaces for the Legacy Posterior Stabi-
management systems. lized Knee (LPS);

) Legacy Posterior Stabilized Flex Knee (LPS – Flex);OrthoPAT˛
3  Autotransfusion System. This innovative

autotransfusion system, which includes patented disposa- ) Prolong Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene for total knee
ble components, has been specifically designed to collect replacement;
and prepare a patient’s own blood for re-infusion during ) Rotating Hinge Knee for complex knee revision
and following an open surgical procedure. Depending on procedures (RHK);
the nature of the surgery performed, multiple OrthoPAT

) Trabecular Metal products for knee components,
autotransfusion units may be required for a single

including tibial components, primary patella and
procedure. The Company markets OrthoPAT Autotransfu-

augmentation patella;
sion Systems through an exclusive distribution arrange-

) expanded launch of the Epoch composite hip stem;ment in the United States and Canada.
) expansion of the VerSys porous stem line;

Pulsavac˛ Plus Wound Debridement System. The Com-
) Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liner forpany introduced the Pulsavac Plus Lavage System, a

hip cups;variable-powered, fully disposable debridement system
with the versatility to meet the needs of today’s operat- ) revision acetabulum products for hip revision
ing room. The newly introduced Pulsavac LP is a low procedures;
pressure, disposable debridement system. Based on the ) the ZMR Hip System;
successful design of the Pulsavac Plus, it is intended for

) Trabecular Metal Monoblock Cup;
applications requiring low-pressure lavage to help remove

) VerSys Advocate
TM cemented stem;necrotic tissue and facilitate healing.

) expansion of the CPT line of cemented hip system;
ATS˛ Tourniquet Systems. The ATS range represents the

) ITST intramedullary nail for proximal femur fracture;most complete family of tourniquet machines and cuffs
available. The family of three machines is designed to ) Zimmer Plates and Screws internal fracture fixation
meet the specific demands of a wide variety of health system (ZPS);
care facilities and clinical applications. The range of cuffs ) expansion of the Bigliani/Flatow shoulder system; and
which complement the machines provides the flexibility

) expansion of the Coonrad/Morrey elbow system.
to occlude blood flow safely with convenience and
accuracy for adult limbs of every size and shape. These and other new products introduced in the past

36 months accounted for 18 percent of 2002 total sales,
2 trademark of Carpenter Technology Corporation consistent with the Company’s goal of 15 to 20 percent on an
3 trademark of Haemonetics Corporation annual basis.

The Company is actively broadening its product offerings
in each of the product categories and exploring new technolo-
gies that have applications in multiple areas. For the years
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ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company FDA. The member countries of the European Union have
spent $80.7 million, $71.6 million and $52.0 million, respec- adopted the European Medical Device Directives, which
tively, on research and development. The increase in research create a single set of medical device regulations for all
and development expenditures has accelerated the output of member countries. These regulations require companies that
new reconstructive implant and trauma products including wish to manufacture and distribute medical devices in
advanced new materials, product designs and surgical European Union member countries to obtain Community
techniques. The Company’s primary research and develop- European (CE) marks for their products. The Company has
ment facility is located in Warsaw, Indiana, and employs more authorization to place the CE mark on products it distributes
than 340 research and development employees. in European Union countries.

The Company will continue to identify and capitalize on Regulatory requirements affecting the Company and its
external sources of innovative technologies through possible products have continued to increase. It is the policy of the
acquisitions of other complementary products, businesses, Company to comply with all regulatory requirements gov-
technology licensing arrangements and strategic alliances. erning its operations and products; and the Company believes
During 2001 the Company announced the creation of a that the manufacturing, quality control and internal control
medical education process, The Zimmer Institute, to help procedures that it employs meet the requirements of the
facilitate training for surgeons, sales associates and other regulations in all material respects.
medical professionals on the procedures for applying mini- Government agencies and legislative bodies in the United
mally invasive surgical techniques to orthopaedic surgery. States and throughout the world influence reimbursement
In connection with this, the Company is working with major rates to varying degrees. The Company believes that its
medical centers to evaluate and refine advanced minimally experience in dealing with governmental regulatory require-
invasive hip and knee replacement and procedures. In ments, its efficient means of distribution and its emphasis on
addition, the Company has developed and maintains close the ongoing development of efficacious and technologically
relationships with a number of widely recognized orthopaedic advanced products should enable it to continue to compete
surgeons who assist in product research and development. effectively within this regulated environment.

The orthopaedic industry is subject to various govern-
GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS ment regulations pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse,

including anti-kickback laws and physician self-referral laws.
The Company is subject to government regulation with

Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal and/or civil
regard to its products and operations in the countries in

sanctions, including, in some instances, imprisonment and
which it operates. It is the policy of the Company to comply

exclusion from participation in government healthcare pro-
fully with all regulatory requirements applicable to its prod-

grams, including Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Administration
ucts and operations.

(VA) health programs and Civilian Health and Medical
In the United States, multiple regulations govern the

Program Uniformed Service (CHAMPUS). The scope and
development, testing, manufacturing and marketing of medical

enforcement of these laws and regulations are uncertain and
devices, including among others, the Federal Food, Drug and

subject to rapid change, especially in light of the lack of
Cosmetic Act and regulations issued or proposed there under.

applicable precedent and regulations. The Company believes
The Food and Drug Administration (‘‘FDA’’) regulates labora-

that its operations are in material compliance with these laws.
tory and manufacturing practices, labeling and record keeping

The Company’s facilities and operations are subject to
for medical devices and review of required manufacturers’

various government environmental and occupational health
reports of adverse experience to identify potential problems

and safety requirements of the United States and foreign
with marketed medical devices. A few of the devices devel-

countries, including those relating to discharges of substances
oped and marketed by the Company are in a category for

in the air, water and land, the handling, storage and disposal
which the FDA has implemented stringent clinical investiga-

of wastes and the cleanup of properties by pollutants. The
tion and pre-market approval requirements. The FDA has the

Company believes it is currently in material compliance with
authority to halt the distribution of certain medical devices;

such requirements.
detain or seize adulterated or misbranded medical devices; or
order the repair, replacement or refund of the costs of such

COMPETITION
devices. There are also certain requirements of state, local
and foreign governments that must be complied with in the The orthopaedics industry is highly competitive. In
manufacture and marketing of the Company’s products. the global markets for reconstructive implants, trauma and

In many of the foreign countries in which the Company orthopaedic surgical products, major competitors include:
markets its products, it is subject to local regulations J&J DePuy Orthopaedics (a subsidiary of Johnson & John-
affecting, among other things, product standards, packaging son); Biomet, Inc.; Stryker Corp.; Smith & Nephew, Inc.;
requirements, labeling requirements and import restrictions. Centerpulse Ltd. and Synthes-Stratec. Competition within the
Many of the regulations applicable to the Company’s devices industry is primarily based on technology, quality, reputation,
and products in these countries are similar to those of the customer relationships and service.

8
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In the Americas, J&J DePuy, Biomet, Inc. and Stryker EMPLOYEES

Corp., along with the Company, account for a large majority
At December 31, 2002, the Company employed more

of the total reconstructive implant sales.
than 3,600 employees worldwide including more than 340

In the Asia Pacific market for reconstructive implant
employees dedicated to research and development. Approxi-

and trauma products, the Company competes primarily with
mately 2,700 employees are located within the United States

J&J DePuy and Stryker Corp. as well as regional companies,
and 900 employees are located outside of the United States,

including Kyocera and MDM. Factors, such as the dealer
primarily in Japan and throughout Europe. Approximately 200

system, complex regulatory environments and the accompany-
North American employees are members of a trade union

ing inability to compete on price, make it difficult for smaller
covered by a collective bargaining agreement. In addition,

companies, particularly those that are non-regional,
approximately 10 employees are represented by a union in

to compete effectively with the market leaders in the Asia
the United Kingdom.

Pacific region.
In May 2000, the Company renewed a collective bargain-

In Europe the reconstructive implant and trauma product
ing agreement with the United Steelworkers of America

markets are more fragmented than the Americas or the Asia
covering employees at the Dover, Ohio, facility. This agree-

Pacific regions. The variety of philosophies held by European
ment is effective until May 15, 2003, and is automatically

surgeons regarding hip reconstruction, for example, has
renewed on a year-to-year basis until either party gives a

allowed for the survival of many small, niche European
written notice of its intent to terminate the agreement,

companies. Today most hip implants sold in Europe are
60 days prior to a termination date. The Company believes

products developed specifically for Europe, although global
that its relationship with its employees and the unions that

products are gaining acceptance. Therefore, the Company, in
represent them is good.

addition to its global products, will continue to develop and
produce specially tailored products to meet specific European
needs. The Company believes it is a leading player in this
region in the reconstructive implant market.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Company believes that patents and other proprietary
rights are important to the success of its business and also
relies upon trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological
innovation and licensing opportunities to develop and main-
tain its competitive position. The Company protects its
proprietary rights through a variety of methods, including
confidentiality agreements and proprietary information agree-
ments with vendors, employees, consultants and others who
may have access to proprietary information.

The Company owns more than 690 issued patents and
over 400 pending patent applications and has licensed more
than 450 issued patents and over 300 pending patent
applications that relate to aspects of the technology incorpo-
rated in many of its products. Also, the Company is a party
to several license agreements with unrelated third parties
pursuant to which it has obtained, for the life of the licensed
patent, the exclusive or non-exclusive rights to these patents
in consideration for royalty payments, including highly cross-
linked polyethylene. In August 2000 the Company entered
into an exclusive distribution and strategic alliance agreement
with Implex Corporation, relating to the development and
distribution of reconstructive implant and trauma products
incorporating Trabecular Metal technology. This agreement
provides the Company with an exclusive right, subject to
specified conditions beginning with the third quarter of 2003,
to purchase specified assets and proprietary rights of the
Implex Corporation utilizing a predefined process.

9
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ITEM 2. Properties 

The Company has the following properties:
Owned/ Square

Location Use Leased Feet

Warsaw, Indiana Research & Development, Manufacturing, Warehousing, Marketing, Owned 811,000
Administration, Zimmer Institute and Corporate Headquarters

Warsaw, Indiana Warehousing Leased 89,000

Statesville, North Carolina Manufacturing & Warehousing Owned 156,000

Dover, Ohio Research & Development, Manufacturing, & Warehousing Owned 140,000

Sydney, Australia Offices & Warehousing Leased 24,000

Wemmel, Belgium Offices & Warehousing Leased 15,000

Shanghai, China Offices & Warehousing Leased 12,000

Aix en Provence, France Offices & Warehousing Leased 5,000

Kiel, Germany Offices & Warehousing Leased 21,000

Milan, Italy Offices & Warehousing Leased 29,000

Fukuoka, Japan Distribution Leased 22,000

Gotemba, Japan Offices, Service Center & Warehousing Owned 73,000

Tokyo, Japan Offices & Warehousing Leased 16,000

Seoul, Korea Offices & Warehousing Leased 18,000

B.S.Amersfoort, Netherlands Offices & Warehousing Leased 5,000

Auckland, New Zealand Offices & Warehousing Leased 4,000

Mississauga, Ontario Offices & Warehousing Leased 52,000

Ponce, Puerto Rico Manufacturing & Warehousing Owned 113,000

El Tuque, Puerto Rico Offices & Warehousing Leased 12,000

Singapore Offices & Warehousing Leased 10,000

Barcelona, Spain Offices & Warehousing Leased 16,000

Taipei, Taiwan Offices & Warehousing Leased 8,000

Swindon, United Kingdom Offices & Warehousing Leased 65,000

In addition to the above, the Company maintains more than 20 offices and warehouse facilities in various countries,
including the United States, Japan, Australia, France, Russia and China. The Company believes that all of the facilities and
equipment are in good condition, well maintained and able to operate at present levels.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings 

Information pertaining to legal proceedings can be found in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which are
included herein under Item 8.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not Applicable.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Certain information with respect to the executive officers of the Company is set forth in Item 10 of this report.

10
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Part II

ITEM 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s common stock, $.01 par value, is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘‘ZMH.’’
The high and low sales prices for the common stock for the calendar quarters since August 7, 2001, are set forth as follows:

Quarterly High-Low Share Prices

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2002:
First Quarter $36.36 $29.55
Second Quarter $36.34 $30.90
Third Quarter $39.46 $29.37
Fourth Quarter $42.60 $37.46

Year Ended December 31, 2001:
Third Quarter (August 7, 2001 through September 30, 2001) $30.50 $24.70
Fourth Quarter $33.30 $27.50

The Company has not declared or paid dividends on the common stock since becoming a public company on August 6,
2001. Currently, the Company does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future. The
Company’s credit facility also restricts the payment of dividends under certain circumstances.

The number of beneficial owners of common stock on February 19, 2003, was approximately 532,000. On February 19, 2003,
the closing price of the common stock, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange, was $41.99 per share.

11
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The financial information for each of the five years ended December 31, 2002, is set forth below (in millions, except per
share amounts):

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Net sales $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6 $938.9 $860.8
Net earnings 257.8 149.8(1) 176.0 149.9 144.9
Earnings per common share

Basic $ 1.33 $ 0.77 $ 0.91 $ 0.77 $ 0.75
Diluted 1.31 0.77 0.91 0.77 0.75

Average common shares outstanding(2)

Basic 194.5 193.7 193.6 193.6 193.6
Diluted 196.8 194.3 193.6 193.6 193.6

Balance Sheet Data
Total assets $ 858.9 $ 745.0 $ 597.4 $605.6 $579.2
Due to former parent – – 144.0 41.0 50.0
Short-term debt 156.7 150.0 – – –
Long-term debt – 213.9 – – –
Other long-term obligations 91.8 79.3 5.5 4.2 3.2
Stockholders’ equity 366.3 78.7 N/A N/A N/A

(1) Net earnings include $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of tax) in costs relating to the separation of the Company from its former parent, which
reduce basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.26 for both. Net earnings also includes $7.4 million ($4.7 million net of tax) of interest
expense for the period from the Distribution to December 31, 2001.

(2) For periods ended prior to August 6, 2001, average common shares reflect the number of shares of Company common stock outstanding on
August 6, 2001, the date all of the shares of Company common stock were distributed to the stockholders of the Company’s former parent.
For periods subsequent to August 6, 2001, average common shares reflect any new issuances of common stock and the dilutive effect of
outstanding stock options, where appropriate.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

with the consolidated financial statements and the corre-
sponding notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This Year Ended December 31, 2002 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001

and Results of Operations contains forward-looking
Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2002,

statements.
increased 16 percent. Sales growth reflected strong demand
for the Company’s reconstructive implants, including the

OVERVIEW
NexGen line of knee products and the VerSys Hip System.

The Company is a global leader in the design, New products launched within the last 36 months represented
development, manufacture and marketing of orthopaedic 18 percent of total sales, including the successful recent
reconstructive implants and trauma products. Orthopaedic launches of key products including the Prolong Highly
reconstructive implants restore joint function lost due to Crosslinked Polyethylene for NexGen Cruciate Retaining
disease or trauma in joints such as knees, hips, shoulders and Knee, the Trabecular Metal Monoblock tibials, the Rotating
elbows. Trauma products are devices used primarily to Hinge Knee and the Trabecular Metal acetabular cups.
reattach or stabilize damaged bone and tissue to support the Favorable demographics helped drive increased surgical pro-
body’s natural healing process. The Company also manufac- cedures in all regions, with the Company’s largest operating
tures and markets surgical products for orthopaedic and segment, the Americas, as well as Europe, leading the overall
general surgery. With operations in 20 countries and products outstanding results. The increase was comprised of a 12 per-
marketed in 70 countries, operations are managed through cent increase due to incremental volume and changes in the
three geographic regions – the Americas, Asia Pacific and mix of product sales and a 4 percent increase due to higher
Europe. average selling prices.

Net sales in the Americas increased 18 percent for the
year to $932.9 million compared to 2001. This increase was
comprised of a 13 percent increase due to incremental
volume and changes in the mix of product sales, together
with a 5 percent increase due to higher average selling prices.
Sales of reconstructive implants increased by 21 percent with
strong sales in all categories. Knee sales increased 24 percent
led by growth in sales of NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized
Knee, NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized Flex Knee,
NexGen Cruciate Retaining Knee components incorporating
Prolong Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene, the M/G Unicom-
partmental Knee, which features Minimally Invasive Solu-

tions (‘‘MIS’’) Instrumentation and the recently launched
NexGen Trabecular Metal tibial component. Hip sales
increased 17 percent driven by continued conversion to
porous stems, Trabecular Metal acetabular cups, and
increased sales of Trilogy Acetabular System cups incorporat-
ing Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners.
Trauma product sales increased 10 percent for the year in
large part due to increased sales of the Zimmer Periarticular
Plating System and the Zimmer Plates and Screws.

Net sales in Asia Pacific increased 6 percent (increased
8 percent constant currency) for the year to $269.6 million.
This increase was comprised of a 7 percent increase due to
incremental volume and changes in the mix of product sales
and 1 percent increase due to higher average selling prices,
offset by a 2 percent decrease due to foreign exchange rate
fluctuations. Knee sales increased 9 percent (increased
11 percent constant currency) reflecting continued strong
growth in the NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized Flex Knee.
Hip sales increased 11 percent (increased 14 percent constant
currency) driven primarily by the continued conversion to
porous stems and sales of Trilogy Acetabular System cups
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incorporating Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Lin- increased number of products were moved to robotic polish-
ers. Trauma product sales decreased 13 percent (decreased ing, as well as, additional porous knee femorals converted to
10 percent constant currency) reflecting a decline in M/DN˛ the fiber metal laser welding process. Several products
Intramedullary Fixation nails and compression hip screw previously purchased from outside suppliers were moved in
sales, primarily in Japan. house for production. Investments in high speed machining

Net sales in Europe increased 28 percent (increased and new tooling technologies made improvements in reducing
23 percent constant currency) to $169.9 million. The strong both product cycle times and scrap. Lastly, standardization of
sales reflected high demand on reconstructive implants. the Company’s manufacturing processes resulted in improve-
Eastern Europe, Finland, France, Scandinavia, Switzerland ment in efficiency.
and the United Kingdom all achieved higher than 30 percent Research and development as a percentage of net sales
growth in reconstructive implant sales. This increase was was 5.9 percent in 2002 compared to 6.1 percent in 2001 or
comprised of 20 percent due to incremental volume and 5.8 percent excluding separation costs of $3.2 million.
changes in the mix of product sales, a 3 percent increase due Increases in research and development costs outpaced sales
to higher average selling prices and a 5 percent increase due growth, reflecting investments in active and new projects, and
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Knee sales increased is consistent with the Company’s stated target to be at the
27 percent (increased 22 percent constant currency) driven higher end of the industry average, or approximately 6 per-
by strong sales of the NexGen Legacy system of knee cent of sales. The Company has many active projects
prostheses, including the Flex Knee, the M/G Unicompart- underway focused on areas of strategic significance, including
mental Knee with MIS Instrumentation, and the recently MIS and the establishment of The Zimmer Institute, innova-
launched Rotating Hinge Knee. Hip sales increased 33 percent tive materials such as Trabecular Metal and Highly Cross-
(increased 28 percent constant currency) driven by strong linked Polyethylene, lifestyle designs, revision implants and
sales of Trilogy Acetabular System cups incorporating biotechnology.
Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners, VerSys Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-
porous stems, supported by the ZMR Modular Revision Hip age of net sales were 39.8 percent in 2002 compared to
System and Trabecular Metal acetabular cups. 45.6 percent in 2001, or 40.9 percent excluding separation

Overall, worldwide reconstructive implant sales increased costs of $54.9 million. Selling, general and administrative
20 percent (increased 20 percent constant currency) to expenses increased 13 percent to $546.0 million in 2002 from
$1,061.7 million. Knee sales increased by 22 percent $482.2 million, excluding separation costs of $54.9 million, in
(increased 21 percent constant currency) to $586.1 million, 2001. Excluding separation costs, the improvement in the
led by NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized Knee including expense ratio reflects lower selling expenses as a result of
the Flex Knee, NexGen Trabecular Metal tibial components, lower costs associated with the Company’s U.S. distributor
the NexGen Cruciate Retaining Knee with Prolong Highly network, sales force and distributor reorganization in Japan,
Crosslinked Polyethylene, and the M/G Unicompartmental and improved efficiency in the utilization of instruments. This
Knee with MIS Instrumentation. Hip sales increased was partially offset by approximately $2 million of consulting
17 percent (increased 17 percent constant currency) to costs associated with tax services and analysis of various
$441.1 million driven by continued conversion to porous external development opportunities, continued investments in
stems, Trabecular Metal acetabular cups, and increased sales various strategic initiatives including MIS, direct-to-consumer
of Trilogy Acetabular System cups incorporating Longevity advertising, training and medical education, and higher insur-
Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners. Longevity Liner sales ance premiums.
comprised 85 percent of primary hip liner sales in 2002. Operating profit increased 62 percent in 2002 to
Trauma product sales increased 4 percent (increased 5 per- $400.9 million from $248.3 million in 2001, or increased 26
cent constant currency) to $133.8 million, led by sales of the percent from $318.3 million excluding separation costs of
Zimmer Periarticular Plating System. Orthopaedic surgical $70.0 million, due to controlled increases in operating
product sales increased by 8 percent (increased 9 percent expenses at rates below sales growth.
constant currency) to $176.9 million, led by the continued The effective tax rate on earnings before taxes decreased
growth of the OrthoPAT Autotransfusion System. to 33.7 percent in 2002 compared to 37.8 percent in 2001, or

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 74.9 percent 35.8 percent excluding separation costs. The decrease from
in 2002 compared to 72.7 percent in 2001, or 73.7 percent 35.8 percent to 33.7 percent was due to expanded operations
excluding separation costs of $11.9 million. The increase was in Puerto Rico, increased R&D credits, higher foreign tax
attributable to increased average selling prices realized in all credits and the implementation of certain business strategies
segments, the continued conversion from cemented hip in 2002 which resulted in reducing taxes in certain jurisdic-
implants to higher margin porous products, increased penetra- tions and increased credits.
tion of Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners, Net earnings increased 72 percent to $257.8 million from
higher sales of revision implants and various manufacturing $149.8 million in 2001, due to improved gross profit, lower
improvements. The Company upgraded its automated foundry rate of increase in selling, general and administrative
process for casting knee femorals, hip stems and cups. An expenses than sales and the incurrence of $70.0 million
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($49.9 million, net of tax) of separation costs in 2001. incorporating Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene
Basic and diluted earnings per share increased 73 percent Liners. Trauma product sales increased 11 percent, in large
and 70 percent to $1.33 and $1.31, respectively, from part due to the introduction of the new ZPS internal fixation
$0.77 in 2001. devices during the fourth quarter and increased sales in

fracture instruments.
Year Ended December 31, 2001

Net sales in Asia Pacific decreased 4 percent to
Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

$255.2 million compared to 2000. This decrease was com-
Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2001 prised of an 8 percent increase due to incremental volume

increased 13 percent (increased 17 percent constant cur- and changes in the mix of product sales, which was more
rency). Sales growth reflected strong demand for reconstruc- than offset by a 12 percent decrease due to foreign exchange
tive implants and outstanding results in the Company’s largest rate fluctuations. Knee sales decreased 6 percent (increased
operating segment, the Americas. This increase in the 5 percent constant currency), reflecting continuing strong
Americas was partially offset by weak local currencies in Asia sales of NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized Flex Knee. Hip
Pacific and Europe. This increase was comprised of a sales decreased 2 percent (increased 9 percent constant
14 percent increase due to incremental volume and changes currency) driven primarily by continued conversion to porous
in the mix of product sales, a 3 percent increase due to stems, introduction of the ZMR Revision Hip System and sales
higher average selling prices and a 4 percent decrease due of Trilogy cups incorporating Longevity Highly Crosslinked
to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Polyethylene Liners. Trauma products decreased 8 percent

The introduction of new materials, techniques and tech- (increased 3 percent constant currency) with higher sales
nologies has contributed to a significant increase in demand of M/DN Intramedullary Fixation nails offset by weaker sales
for the Company’s products and has generally had a favorable of compression hip screws.
effect on sales as average selling prices for the new materials Net sales in Europe increased 10 percent (increased
and technologies generally exceed those being replaced. For 14 percent constant currency) to $132.7 million compared to
example, sales have been favorably affected by a market shift 2000. This increase was comprised of a 13 percent increase
from cruciate retaining designs to posterior stabilized designs due to incremental volume and changes in the mix of product
for total knee procedures. The Company maintains a relatively sales, a 1 percent increase due to higher average selling
strong market position in posterior stabilized knees. Sales prices and a 4 percent decrease due to foreign exchange rate
have also benefited from a market shift from cemented fluctuations. This increase was driven by double-digit growth
components to higher priced porous components for total hip in Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom. Knee sales
replacements. Introduction of the ZMR Revision Hip System increased 13 percent (increased 17 percent constant
provided the Company with a more comprehensive offering in currency) driven by strong sales of the NexGen Legacy

a market subcategory that is reported to experience a higher system of knee prostheses as well as M/G Unicompartmental
growth rate than primary hip replacements. Knee with MIS instrumentation. Hip sales increased 11 per-

Introduction of the Prolong Highly Crosslinked Polyethyl- cent (increased 15 percent constant currency) supported by
ene Articular Surface for total knee replacement procedures the recent introduction of the ZMR Revision Hip System and
exemplifies the Company’s continued use of innovative mater- increased sales of Trilogy cups incorporating Longevity

ials and technologies and follows the successful introduction Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners. Trauma sales
of the Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liner for decreased 8 percent (decreased 4 percent constant currency)
total hip replacement procedures. The market acceptance of in comparison to high-volume tender sales that occurred in
the Longevity Polyethylene Liner, which commands premium the fourth quarter of 2000.
prices in most markets over the standard polyethylene liner, Overall, worldwide reconstructive implant sales increased
has been rapid. 16 percent (increased 19 percent constant currency) to

Net sales in the Americas increased 21 percent to $886.5 million. Knee sales increased by 16 percent (increased
$790.7 million compared to 2000. This increase was com- 20 percent constant currency) to $481.7 million, reflecting
prised of a 16 percent increase due to incremental volume continued strong sales of the NexGen Legacy Posterior
and changes in the mix of product sales, together with a Stabilized Knee and NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized
5 percent increase due to higher average selling prices. Sales Flex Knee, introduced recently in the Americas. Hip sales
of reconstructive implants increased 25 percent with strong increased by 15 percent (increased 19 percent constant
sales in all categories. Knee sales increased 25 percent led by currency) to $376.6 million, driven by continued conversion
growth in sales of NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized Knee, to porous hip stems, strong sales of Trilogy cups incorporat-
the recently introduced NexGen Legacy Posterior Stabilized ing Longevity Highly Crosslinked Polyethylene Liners and
Flex Knee, as well as the M/G Unicompartmental Knee, now the continuing introduction of the ZMR Revision Hip System.
featuring MIS instrumentation. Hip sales increased 23 percent, Trauma product sales increased 4 percent (increased 8 per-
driven by continued conversion to porous stems, the ZMR cent constant currency) to $128.3 million, driven by the
Modular Revision Hip System, Trabecular Metal acetabular introduction of the new ZPS internal fixation devices and
cups, and increased sales of Trilogy Acetabular System cups strong sales of M/DN nails in Asia Pacific. Orthopaedic
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surgical product sales increased 7 percent (increased 10 per- The effective tax rate on earnings before taxes increased
cent constant currency) to $163.8 million, led by the to 37.8 percent in 2001 compared to 34.3 percent in 2000.
introduction of the OrthoPAT Autotransfusion System, that Excluding separation costs, the effective tax rate increased to
can be used perioperatively. 35.8 percent. The tax provision prior to August 6, 2001 was

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 72.7 percent computed by the Company’s former parent. The Company’s
in 2001, or 73.7 percent excluding separation costs of tax rate after August 6, 2001 was 36.1 percent on a pro forma
$11.9 million, compared to 72.1 percent in 2000. This increase separate return basis.
was due to higher average selling prices, favorable premium Net earnings decreased 15 percent in 2001 to $149.8 mil-
priced product mix, as well as improved manufacturing lion from $176.0 million in 2000, principally due to the
efficiencies associated with increased sales volume and incurrence of $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of tax) of
enhanced productivity. This was partially offset by the separation costs related to the Distribution. The net earnings
unfavorable impact of changes in foreign currency exchange decrease was partially offset by improvements in gross profit
rates and inflationary expense increases, including wages and and lower selling, general and administrative expenses exclud-
fringe benefits. ing separation costs. Basic and diluted earnings per share

Research and development as a percentage of net sales decreased 15 percent in 2001 to $0.77 from $0.91 in 2000.
was 6.1 percent in 2001, or 5.8 percent excluding separation
costs of $3.2 million, compared to 5.0 percent in 2000. This OPERATING PROFIT BY SEGMENT

increase was due to higher spending on research and
The following table sets forth the operating profit

development activities focused on broadening the Company’s
by segment for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001

product offerings in areas such as less invasive approaches to
and 2000:

orthopaedic procedures, incorporation of new materials such
as Trabecular Metal and highly crosslinked polyethylene. Operating Profit by Segment

Research and development expenditures, consistent with the
Percent of net sales

Company’s strategy to offer innovative new products and
Year Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000comprehensive solutions, increased over 50 percent to
Americas 46.5% 45.1% 47.8%$68.4 million, excluding separation costs, for the 2 year period
Asia Pacific 43.7 41.1 38.1ended December 31, 2001.
Europe 21.0 15.6 15.3Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent-

age of net sales were 45.6 percent in 2001, or 40.9 percent Year Ended December 31, 2002
excluding separation costs of $54.9 million, compared to Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2001
41.3 percent in 2000. In the fourth quarter 2001, the

Operating profit for the Americas as a percentage of netCompany recorded a $3.0 million pretax charge for possible
sales increased to 46.5 percent in 2002 from 45.1 percent inpayments of non-reimbursed, direct medical expenses to
2001, reflecting improved gross profit margins due to higherpatients who chose to revise certain recalled Saint-Gobain
average selling prices and increased sales of higher marginmanufactured Zirconia femoral heads. Excluding the costs
products, and lower selling expenses as a percent of sales dueof separation and charges related to Saint-Gobain, selling,
to lower costs associated with the U.S. distributor network.general and administrative expenses increased 11 percent
The Americas continued to invest in strategic initiatives suchto $474.9 million in 2001 from $429.8 million in 2000. This
as MIS, field sales personnel, medical education programs andincrease was driven by an increase in selling and marketing
new product launches.expenses where the Company continued to invest in selling

Operating profit for Asia Pacific as a percentage of netand marketing programs, including sales force expansion,
sales increased to 43.7 percent in 2002 from 41.1 percent insupport for the U.S. distributor network, target direct-to-
2001. This increase reflects lower selling, general and adminis-customer advertising and the establishment of the MIS
trative expenses as a percent of sales in Japan as a result ofbusiness unit. General and administrative expenses, in dollar
a sales force and distributor reorganization, partially offsetterms, remained constant in 2001 compared with 2000,
by lower gross profit margins as a result of lower yen hedgereflecting strict expense controls across all geographic
gains compared to 2001.regions. Over the four year period ended December 31, 2001,

Operating profit for Europe as a percentage of net salesgeneral and administrative expenses excluding the aforemen-
increased to 21.0 percent in 2002 from 15.6 percent in 2001,tioned $3.0 million have remained constant while net sales
due to improved gross profit margins as a result of higherincreased by over $300 million.
average selling prices and favorable product and countryOperating profit decreased 7 percent in 2001 to
mix, the leveraging of sales growth in Europe on controlled$248.3 million from $268.0 million in 2000. Excluding separa-
increases in operating expenses and improved efficiency intion costs of $70.0 million, operating profit increased 19 per-
the utilization of instruments.cent to $318.3 million, due primarily to the increase in gross

profit margin, together with expense leveraging.
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Year Ended December 31, 2001 Company invested in the expansion of its manufacturing
Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000 and distribution capacity with an addition to the Company’s

main distribution center in Warsaw, Indiana, to support
Operating profit for the Americas as a percentage of net

sales growth. In 2002, the Company continued to invest in
sales decreased to 45.1 percent in 2001 from 47.8 percent in

computer hardware and software for the new information
2000. This decrease reflects higher selling expenses partially

technology system for the Company’s North American opera-
offset by favorable effects of increased sales of higher margin

tions and additional computer system infrastructure required
products and higher average selling prices.

as a result of the separation.
Operating profit for Asia Pacific as a percentage of net

The Company has a $600 million, committed, multi-
sales increased to 41.1 percent in 2001 from 38.1 percent in

currency, revolving senior unsecured syndicated credit agree-
2000. While revenues were adversely affected by weak local

ment (the ‘‘Credit Facility’’) that matures July 31, 2004. The
currencies, the negative impact of foreign currency on sales

Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and negative
was largely mitigated in operating profit by gains on derivative

covenants, including a maximum leverage ratio and a mini-
financial instruments (more fully described in Note 8 to the

mum interest coverage ratio. The Company is in compliance
Consolidated Financial Statements, which are included herein

with all covenants under the Credit Facility as of Decem-
under Item 8), asset management and expense reduction

ber 31, 2002. Also, the Credit Facility restricts the payment
initiatives.

of dividends and the making of investments if the Company
Operating profit for Europe as a percentage of net sales

does not have an investment grade rating, as defined. The
increased to 15.6 percent in 2001 from 15.3 percent in 2000.

Company’s credit rating as of December 31, 2002 met such
The increase in 2001 was due to favorable country and

requirement. Available borrowings under the Credit Facility at
product mix.

December 31, 2002, were $443.8 million. Borrowings under
the Credit Facility may bear interest at higher or lower

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
margins above LIBOR, based on the Company’s senior

Cash flow generated from operations was $220.2 million unsecured long-term debt rating and the amounts drawn
in 2002, compared with $171.8 million in 2001. The principal under the Credit Facility.
source of cash was net earnings of $257.8 million, non-cash Cash provided by operating activities, together with
charges for depreciation of $25.3 million, partially offset by proceeds from issuance of common stock, were used in 2002
working capital investments of $62.9 million. In 2001, the to fund payments of debt of $212.8 million. The Company had
Company incurred $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of tax) $15.7 million in cash and cash equivalents and outstanding
for the separation from its former parent. borrowings of $156.7 million as of December 31, 2002. The

Working capital continues to be a key management focus. Company expects to pay off the remaining debt balance by
The Company strategically invested in inventory and instru- the end of 2003 with cash provided from operations absent
ments to support strong sales growth in the Americas and any cash requirements for acquisitions during the period.
Europe, and to support new products launched during the The Company intends to maintain a capital structure that
year as well as expected to be launched in 2003. The is consistent with an investment grade credit rating.
Company intends to operate at approximately 250 to 260 days Management believes that cash flows from operations,
of inventory and ended 2002 at 247 days. Accounts receivable together with available borrowings under the Credit Facility,
collection remained strong, with the Americas at a record will be sufficient to meet the Company’s working capital,
33 days, 4 days favorable to prior year. During the year, the capital expenditure and debt service needs. Should
Company contributed $20.7 million to the U.S. and Puerto investment opportunities arise, the Company believes that its
Rico pension plans, representing maximum allowable funding, earnings, balance sheet and cash flows will allow the Company
for liabilities assumed from its former parent on Distribution, to obtain additional capital, if necessary. The ability to issue
in addition to liabilities accrued since Distribution. The additional equity is subject to limitations in order to preserve
Company expects 2003 pension contributions to be lower the tax-free nature of the distribution. Under the tax sharing
than the 2002 level. agreement with its former parent, the Company is required

Cash flow used in investing activities was $35.7 million to indemnify the former parent for the amount of any tax
in 2002 compared with $54.7 million in 2001. In 2001, the imposed under Section 355(e) of the Internal Revenue Code.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The Company has entered into contracts with various third parties in the normal course of business which will require
future payments. The following table illustrates the Company’s contractual obligations:

Less
Than 1 1 - 3 4 - 5 After 5

Contractual Obligations Total Year Years Years Years

Short-term debt $156.7 $156.7 $ – $ – $ –
Operating leases 36.9 8.3 12.7 7.3 8.6
Minimum purchase commitments 25.0 25.0 – – –

Total contractual obligations $218.6 $190.0 $12.7 $7.3 $8.6

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES equipment based on historical patterns of use and
physical and technological characteristics of assets, as

The financial results of the Company are affected by the
appropriate. In accordance with Statement of Financial

selection and application of accounting policies and methods.
Accounting Standards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for

Significant accounting policies which, in some cases, require
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,’’ the

management’s judgment are discussed below.
Company reviews property, plant and equipment for

Revenue Recognition – A significant portion of the Com- impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
pany’s revenue is recognized for field based product upon indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be
notification that the product has been implanted or used. recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized
For all other transactions, the Company recognizes when estimated future cash flows relating to the asset
revenue when title is passed to customers, generally are less than its carrying amount.
upon shipment. Estimated returns and allowances are

Derivative Financial Instruments – Critical aspects of
recorded as a reduction of sales when the revenue is

the Company’s accounting policy for derivative financial
recognized.

instruments include conditions which require that critical
Inventories – The Company must determine as of each terms of a hedging instrument are essentially the same as
balance sheet date how much, if any, of its inventory may a hedged forecasted transaction. Another important ele-
ultimately prove to be unsaleable or unsaleable at its ment of the policy requires that formal documentation be
carrying cost. Reserves are established to effectively maintained as required by the SFAS No. 133, ‘‘Accounting
adjust any such inventory to net realizable value. To for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.’’ Fail-
determine the appropriate level of reserves, the Company ure to comply with these conditions would result in a
evaluates current stock levels in relation to historical and requirement to recognize changes in market value of
expected patterns of demand for all of its products. A hedge instruments in earnings as they occur. Manage-
series of algorithms is applied to the data to assist ment routinely monitors significant estimates, assump-
management in its evaluation. Management evaluates the tions and judgments associated with derivative
need for changes to valuation reserves based on market instruments, and compliance with formal documentation
conditions, competitive offerings and other factors on a requirements.
regular basis. Further information about inventory

Stock Compensation – The Company applies the provi-
reserves is provided in notes to the consolidated financial

sions of APB Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock
statements.

Issued to Employees,’’ in accounting for stock-based
Instruments – The Company, as is customary in the compensation; therefore, no compensation expense has
industry, consigns surgical instruments for use in been recognized for its fixed stock option plans as
orthopaedic procedures with the Company’s products. options are granted at fair market value. SFAS No. 123,
The Company’s accounting policy requires that the full ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’’ provides an
cost of instruments be recognized as an expense in the alternative method of accounting for stock options based
year in which the instruments are placed in service. An on an option pricing model, such as Black-Scholes. The
alternative to this method is to depreciate the cost of Company has adopted the disclosure requirements of
instruments over their useful lives. The Company may SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-
from time to time consider a change in accounting for Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure.’’ Informa-
instruments to better align its accounting policy with tion regarding compensation expense under the alterna-
certain Company competitors. tive method is provided in notes to the consolidated

financial statements.
Property, Plant and Equipment – The Company deter-
mines estimated useful lives of property, plant and
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Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits – The Com- SEPARATION FROM BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB

pany’s pension and postretirement benefit costs and
The Company was incorporated in Delaware as a wholly

liabilities are calculated utilizing various actuarial assump-
owned subsidiary of Bristol-Myers Squibb on January 12,

tions and methodologies prescribed under SFAS No. 87,
2001. On July 25, 2001, Bristol-Myers Squibb transferred the

‘‘Employers’ Accounting for Pensions’’ and No. 106,
assets and liabilities of its orthopaedic business to the

‘‘Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other
Company. On August 6, 2001, Bristol-Myers Squibb distrib-

Than Pensions.’’ The most significant actuarial assump-
uted all of the shares of Company common stock to Bristol-

tions include the discount rate, expected rate of return
Myers Squibb stockholders in the form of a dividend of one

on plan assets and the expected healthcare cost trend
share of Company common stock, and the associated pre-

rate. Other actuarial assumptions utilized in determining
ferred stock purchase right, for every 10 shares of Bristol-

pension and postretirement benefit costs include, among
Myers Squibb common stock. In addition, the Company

others, mortality rates and employee turnover rates. The
assumed all obligations under a $600 million credit facility

discount rate assumption is based upon the review of
(‘‘Credit Facility’’) established by the Company and its former

high quality corporate bond rates and the change in
parent with then outstanding borrowings of $290 million. With

those rates during the year. The expected rate of return
additional borrowings under the Credit Facility, the Company

on plan assets and healthcare cost trend rate are based
repaid amounts due to its former parent of approximately

upon an evaluation of trends and experiences taking into
$90 million, and finally, the Company assumed an additional

account current and expected market conditions.
$22 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility for

A twenty-five basis point change in the discount rate or separation costs. In addition, the Company recognized certain
the expected rate of return on plan assets would not liabilities and obligations for pension, post-retirement, long-
have a material impact on the Company’s financial term disability and U.S. sales agent benefits. Recognition of
position, results of operations or cash flows. A reasonable these liabilities and obligations and other adjustments were
change in the other actuarial assumptions would not have reflected in the remaining net investment in the Company by
a material impact on the Company’s financial position, its former parent of $14.1 million as of the Distribution and
results of operations or cash flows. subsequently reclassified to opening retained earnings. The

Distribution qualified as a tax-free transaction under Sec-
Income Taxes – The Company estimates income tax

tion 355 and 368 (a) (1) (1) of the Internal Revenue Code of
expense and income tax liabilities and assets by taxable

1986 as more fully described in Note 12 to the Consolidated
jurisdiction. Realization of deferred tax assets in each

Financial Statements, which are included herein under Item 8.
taxable jurisdiction is dependent on the Company’s ability

The Company incurred $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of
to generate future taxable income sufficient to realize the

taxes) in costs, fees and expenses relating to the separation
benefits. The Company evaluates deferred tax assets on

from Bristol-Myers Squibb and the related distribution of
an ongoing basis and provides valuation allowances if it is

Company common stock to Bristol-Myers Squibb stockholders
determined to be ‘‘more likely than not’’ that the deferred

which was partially funded by additional borrowings under
tax benefit will not be realized. Federal income taxes are

the credit facility. The costs, fees and expenses were
provided on the portion of the income of foreign

primarily for retention bonuses, legal separation matters,
subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the U.S.

professional expenses and costs of producing, printing, mail-
Commitments and Contingencies – Accruals for product ing and distributing the information statement relating to the
liability and other claims are established with internal and Distribution.
external counsel based on current information and Except for separation costs and the ongoing interest cost
historical settlement information for claims, related fees associated with debt assumed or incurred as of the Distribu-
and for claims incurred but not reported. An actuarial tion, the Company does not currently anticipate that operat-
model is used by the Company to assist management in ing costs resulting from the separation from its former parent
determining an appropriate level of accruals for product will materially impact its cost structure as reflected in its
liability claims. Historical patterns of claim loss develop- historical consolidated results.
ment over time are statistically analyzed to arrive at
factors which are then applied to loss estimates in the RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

actuarial model. The amounts established represent man-
Information about recent accounting pronouncements is

agement’s best estimate of the ultimate costs that it will
included in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

incur under the various contingencies.
which are included herein under Item 8.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

MARKET RISK potential changes in revenue, operating results, cash flows
and financial position relating to hypothetical movements in

The Company is exposed to certain market risks as part
currency exchange rates. A sensitivity analysis of changes in

of its ongoing business operations, including risks from
the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts outstand-

changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and
ing at December 31, 2002, indicated that, if the U.S. Dollar

commodity prices, that could impact its financial condition,
uniformly changed in value by 10 percent relative to the

results of operations and cash flows. The Company manages
Japanese Yen and the Euro, with no change in the interest

its exposure to these and other market risks through regular
differentials, the fair value of those contracts would increase

operating and financing activities, and on a limited basis,
or decrease earnings before income taxes, depending on the

through the use of derivative financial instruments. Derivative
direction of the change, by an average approximate amount of

financial instruments are used solely as risk management tools
$17.1 million and $9.9 million for the Yen and Euro contracts,

and not for speculative investment purposes.
respectively. Any change in the fair value of foreign exchange
forward contracts as a result of a fluctuation in a currency

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISK
exchange rate is expected to be largely offset by a change in

The Company operates on a global basis and is exposed the value of the hedged transaction. Consequently, foreign
to the risk that its financial condition, results of operations exchange contracts would not subject the Company to
and cash flows could be adversely affected by changes in material risk due to exchange rate movements because gains
foreign currency exchange rates. The Company is primarily and losses on these contracts offset gains and losses on the
exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk with respect assets, liabilities, and transactions being hedged.
to its transactions and net assets denominated in Japanese The Company had net investment exposures to net foreign
Yen and the Euro. The Company manages the foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of approximately
currency exposure centrally, on a combined basis, which $135 million and $87 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
allows the Company to net exposures and to take advantage respectively, primarily in the Japanese Yen and the Euro.
of any natural offsets. In order to reduce the uncertainty of
foreign exchange rate movements on transactions denomi- COMMODITY PRICE RISK

nated in foreign currencies, the Company enters into deriva-
The Company purchases raw material commodities such

tive financial instruments in the form of foreign exchange
as cobalt chrome, titanium, tantalum, medical grade polymer

forward contracts with major international financial institu-
and sterile packaging. The Company enters into 12 to

tions. These forward contracts are designed to hedge antici-
24 month supply contracts on these commodities to alleviate

pated foreign currency transactions, primarily intercompany
the impact of market fluctuation in prices. As part of the

sale and purchase transactions, for periods consistent with
Company’s risk management program, sensitivity analyses

commitments. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on
related to potential commodity price changes are performed.

these contracts that qualify as cash flow hedges are tempora-
A 10 percent price change across all these commodities would

rily recorded in other comprehensive income, then recognized
not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated

in earnings when the hedged item affects net earnings.
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The notional amounts of outstanding foreign exchange
forward and option contracts, principally Japanese Yen and

INTEREST RATE RISK
the Euro, entered into with third parties, at December 31,
2002 and 2001, were $252 million and $82 million, respec- In the normal course of business, the Company is
tively. For all contracts outstanding at December 31, 2002: exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates that
the Company has obligation to purchase U.S. Dollars and sell could impact its results of operations and financial condition.
Japanese Yen and the Euro at set maturity dates ranging from The Company manages its exposure to interest rate risks
January 2003 through September 2004. The weighted average through its regular operations and financing activities.
contract rates for 2003 and 2004 are 129 and 117 Yen and Presently, the Company invests its cash and cash
$0.97 and $1.03 Euro, respectively. equivalents in money market and investment-grade short-term

The Company maintains written policies and procedures debt instruments. The primary investment objective is to
governing its risk management activities. The Company’s ensure capital preservation of its invested principal funds by
policy requires that critical terms of hedging instruments are limiting default and market risk. Currently, the Company does
the same as hedged forecasted transactions. On this basis, not use derivative financial instruments in its investment
with respect to cash flow hedges, changes in cash flows portfolio.
attributable to hedged transactions are generally expected to The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises
be completely offset by changes in the fair value of hedge principally from the variable rates associated with its credit
instruments. As part of its risk management program, the facilities. The Company is subject to movements in interest
Company furthermore performs sensitivity analyses to assess rate risk on the committed Credit Facility and its uncommit-
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ted credit facilities. Presently, all of its debt outstanding is
floating. The Company currently does not hedge its interest rate
exposure, but may do so in the future. Based upon the
Company’s overall interest rate exposure as of December 31,
2002, a change of 10 percent in interest rates would not have a
material effect on the Company’s earnings or cash flows over a
one-year period. However, due to the uncertainty of the actions
that would be taken and their possible effects, this analysis
assumes no such action, nor management actions to mitigate
interest rate changes. Further, this analysis does not consider
the effect of the change in the level of overall economic activity
that could exist in such an environment. Presently, the Company
intends to utilize cash flow to reduce outstanding borrowings.

CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Com-
pany to concentrations of credit risk, are primarily cash, cash
equivalents, counterparty transactions, and accounts receivable.

The Company places its investments in highly rated
financial institutions and money market instruments, and
limits the amount of credit exposure to any one entity. The
Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant
credit risk on its cash and cash equivalents and investments.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of
nonperformance by the financial institutions with which it
conducts business. However, this loss is limited to the
amounts, if any, by which the obligations of the counterparty
to the financial instrument contract exceed the obligation of
the Company. The Company also minimizes exposure to
credit risk by dealing with a diversified group of major
financial institutions. Credit risk is managed through the
monitoring of counterparty financial condition and by the use
of standard credit guidelines. The Company does not antici-
pate any nonperformance by any of the counterparties.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade
accounts receivable is limited due to the large number of
customers and their dispersion across a number of geographic
areas and by frequent monitoring of the creditworthiness of
the customers to whom credit is granted in the normal course
of business. However, essentially all of the Company’s trade
receivables are concentrated in the public and private hospital
and healthcare industry in the U.S. and internationally or with
distributors who operate in international markets and, accord-
ingly, are exposed to their respective business, economic and
country specific variables. Repayment is dependent upon the
financial stability of these industry sectors and the respective
countries’ national economic and health care systems. Expo-
sure to credit risk is controlled through credit approvals,
credit limits and monitoring procedures and the Company
believes that reserves for losses are adequate. There is no
significant net exposure due to any individual customer or
other major concentration of credit risk.
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Report Of Management

To the Stockholders of Zimmer Holdings, Inc.:

Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial information presented in this Form 10-K. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Where necessary, they
reflect estimates based on management’s judgment.

Management relies upon established accounting procedures and related systems of internal control for meeting its
responsibilities to maintain reliable financial records. These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded and that transactions are properly recorded and executed in accordance with management’s intentions. The
Company, independent accountants and internal auditors periodically review the accounting and control systems, and these
systems are revised if and when weaknesses or deficiencies are found.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed solely of directors from outside the Company, meets regularly
with management and its independent accountants to discuss audit scope and results, internal control evaluations, and other
accounting, reporting and financial matters. The independent accountants have access to the Audit Committee without
management’s presence.

J. Raymond Elliott
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Zimmer Holdings, Inc.

Sam R. Leno
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Zimmer Holdings, Inc.
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Report of Independent Accountants

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Zimmer Holdings, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Zimmer Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
January 23, 2003
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(in millions, except per share amounts)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

Net Sales $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6
Cost of products sold 344.8 321.6 290.9

Gross Profit 1,027.6 857.0 749.7

Research and development 80.7 71.6 52.0
Selling, general and administrative 546.0 537.1 429.7

Operating expenses 626.7 608.7 481.7

Operating Profit 400.9 248.3 268.0
Interest expense 12.0 7.4 –

Earnings before income taxes 388.9 240.9 268.0
Provision for income taxes 131.1 91.1 92.0

Net Earnings $ 257.8 $ 149.8 $ 176.0

Earnings Per Common Share
Basic $ 1.33 $ 0.77 $ 0.91
Diluted $ 1.31 $ 0.77 $ 0.91

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding
Basic 194.5 193.7 193.6
Diluted 196.8 194.3 193.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions, except share amounts)

December 31, 2002 2001

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and equivalents $ 15.7 $ 18.4
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 214.8 181.7
Inventories, net 257.6 200.0
Prepaid expenses 71.7 59.3
Deferred income taxes 52.6 49.2

Total Current Assets 612.4 508.6

Property, Plant and Equipment, net 157.8 148.2
Deferred Income Taxes 70.1 66.8
Other Assets 18.6 21.4

Total Assets $858.9 $745.0

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 59.8 $ 67.4
Income taxes payable 19.5 4.3
Other current liabilities 164.8 151.4
Short-term debt 156.7 150.0

Total Current Liabilities 400.8 373.1

Other Long-term Liabilities 91.8 79.3
Long-term Debt – 213.9

Total Liabilities 492.6 666.3

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 17)

Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, one billion shares authorized, 

195.2 million (193.9 million in 2001) issued and outstanding 2.0 1.9
Paid-in capital 36.9 4.4
Retained earnings 313.4 55.6
Accumulated other comprehensive income 14.0 16.8

Total Stockholders’ Equity 366.3 78.7

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $858.9 $745.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions)

Accumulated Net
Other Investment Total

Common Shares Paid-in Retained Comprehensive by Former Stockholders’
Number Amount Capital Earnings Income Parent Equity

Balance January 1, 2000 – $ – $ – $ – $ 7.3 $ 384.0 $ 391.3

Net earnings – – – – – 176.0 176.0
Foreign currency translation – – – – (0.3) – (0.3)

Comprehensive income – – – – – – 175.7

Net cash transferred to former parent – – – – – (306.0) (306.0)

Balance December 31, 2000 – – – – 7.0 254.0 261.0
Net earnings – – – 69.7 – 80.1 149.8
Foreign currency translation – – – – 2.6 – 2.6
Unrealized foreign currency hedge gains, net of tax – – – – 12.1 – 12.1
Reclassification adjustment – – – – (4.9) – (4.9)

Comprehensive income – – – – – – 159.6

Net cash transferred to former parent – – – – – (56.3) (56.3)
Dividend to former parent – – – – – (290.0) (290.0)
Issuance of common stock 193.6 1.9 – – – (1.9) –
Reclassification of remaining net investment of former

parent – – – (14.1) – 14.1 –
Exercise of stock options and issuance of restricted stock 0.3 – 4.4 – – – 4.4

Balance December 31, 2001 193.9 1.9 4.4 55.6 16.8 – 78.7
Net earnings – – – 257.8 – – 257.8
Foreign currency translation – – – – 13.5 – 13.5
Unrealized foreign currency hedge losses, net of tax – – – – (12.2) – (12.2)
Reclassification adjustment – – – – (3.5) – (3.5)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax – – – – (0.6) – (0.6)

Comprehensive income – – – – – – 255.0

Exercise of stock options and issuance of restricted stock 1.3 0.1 32.5 – – – 32.6

Balance December 31, 2002 195.2 $2.0 $36.9 $313.4 $ 14.0 $ – $ 366.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net earnings $ 257.8 $ 149.8 $ 176.0
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 25.3 23.4 23.1
Income taxes 29.9 1.1 7.8
Receivables (25.0) 2.6 7.8
Inventories (59.7) (50.2) (2.1)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (12.2) 41.9 14.5
Other assets and liabilities 4.1 3.2 5.3

Net cash provided by operating activities 220.2 171.8 232.4

Cash flows used in investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment (33.7) (54.7) (29.0)
Investments in other assets (2.0) – –

Net cash used in investing activities (35.7) (54.7) (29.0)

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Proceeds from (payments of) borrowings, net (212.8) 366.3 –
Dividend paid to former parent – (290.0) –
Net increase (decrease) in due to former parent – (144.0) 102.6
Net transactions with former parent – (32.8) (306.0)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 23.9 1.4 –

Net cash used in financing activities (188.9) (99.1) (203.4)

Effect of exchange rates on cash and equivalents 1.7 0.4 –

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (2.7) 18.4 –
Cash and equivalents, beginning of year 18.4 – –

Cash and equivalents, end of year $ 15.7 $ 18.4 $ –

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. BUSINESS Cash and Equivalents – The Company considers all
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three

Zimmer Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (individually
months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company currently

and collectively the ‘‘Company’’) design, develop, manufacture
does not have any investments which would not be consid-

and market orthopaedic reconstructive implants and trauma
ered cash equivalents. The carrying amounts reported in the

products. Orthopaedic reconstructive implants restore joint
balance sheet for cash and cash equivalents are valued at

function lost due to disease or trauma in joints such as knees,
cost, which approximates their fair value.

hips, shoulders and elbows, while trauma products are devices
Inventories – Inventories, net of allowances for obsoleteused primarily to reattach or stabilize damaged bone and

and slow-moving goods, are stated at the lower of cost ortissue to support the body’s natural healing process. The
market, with cost determined on the basis of average costing.Company also manufactures and markets other products

relating to orthopaedic and general surgery. The Company Prepaid Expenses – Prepaid expenses include the cost of
has operations in 20 countries and markets its products in instruments in stock for surgical procedures consigned for use
70 countries. The Company operates in a single industry in connection with implantation of the Company’s products.
but has three reportable geographic segments. These costs are recognized in selling, general and administra-

tive expense in the year in which the instruments are placed
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES into service.

Property, Plant and Equipment – Property, plant andBasis of Presentation – The consolidated financial state-
equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.ments include the accounts of the Company after elimination
Depreciation is computed based on the estimated useful livesof all significant intercompany accounts and transactions. The
of ten to forty years for buildings and improvements and 3 toconsolidated financial statements represent the Company’s
8 years for machinery and equipment using the straight-lineoperations as a public company commencing on August 6,
method. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.2001, combined with the operations of Zimmer as a division
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-of its former parent prior to becoming a public company. For
dards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 144, ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment orperiods prior to August 6, 2001, intercompany accounts with
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,’’ the Company reviews prop-its former parent, other than specific outstanding obligations,
erty, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events orwere combined with invested capital and reported in the
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value ofconsolidated financial statements as net investment by former
an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss wouldparent. Certain amounts in the 2001 and 2000 consolidated
be recognized when estimated future cash flows relating tofinancial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
the asset are less than its carrying amount.2002 presentation.

Research and Development – The Company expenses allUse of Estimates – The consolidated financial statements
research and development costs as incurred. Research andare prepared in conformity with accounting principles gener-
development costs include salaries, prototypes, depreciationally accepted in the United States and, accordingly, include
of equipment used in research and development, consultantamounts that are based on management’s best estimates and
fees and amounts paid to collaborative partners.judgments. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Income Taxes – The Company accounts for income taxesForeign Currency Translation – The financial statements
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, ‘‘Accounting for Incomeof the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S.
Taxes.’’ Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesdollars using period-end exchange rates for assets and
are determined based on differences between financial report-liabilities and average exchange rates for operating results.
ing and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measuredUnrealized translation gains and losses are included in accu-
using the enacted tax rates in effect for the years in whichmulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity.
the differences are expected to reverse. Federal income taxesForeign currency transaction gains and losses included in net
are provided on the portion of the income of foreignearnings are not material.
subsidiaries that is expected to be remitted to the U.S.

Revenue Recognition – A significant portion of the
Derivative Financial Instruments – The CompanyCompany’s revenue is recognized for field based product upon

accounts for all derivative financial instruments in accordancenotification that the product has been implanted or used. For
with SFAS No. 133, ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instrumentsall other transactions, the Company recognizes revenue when
and Hedging Activities,’’ which requires that all derivativetitle is passed to customers, generally upon shipment. Esti-
instruments be required as assets or liabilities on the balancemated returns and allowances are recorded as a reduction of
sheet and measured at fair value. The Company maintainssales when the revenue is recognized. The reserves for
written policies and procedures that permit, under appropri-doubtful accounts were $7.2 million and $6.5 million as of
ate circumstances and subject to proper authorization, theDecember 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(in millions, except per share amounts)use of derivative financial instruments solely for hedging
For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000purposes. The use of derivative financial instruments for

trading or speculative purposes is prohibited. The Company Earnings per share:
Basic – as reported $ 1.33 $ 0.77 $ 0.91utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to offset the effect
Basic – pro forma 1.26 0.70 0.87of exchange rate fluctuations on anticipated foreign currency
Diluted – as reported 1.31 0.77 0.91

transactions, primarily intercompany sales and purchases Diluted – pro forma 1.25 0.70 0.87
expected to occur within the next twelve to twenty-four

Comprehensive Income – Other comprehensive incomemonths. Derivative instruments that qualify as cash flow
refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that underhedges are designated as such from inception. Formal
generally accepted accounting principles are included indocumentation is maintained of the Company’s objectives, the
comprehensive income but are excluded from net earningsnature of the risk being hedged, identification of the instru-
as these amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment toment, the hedged transaction, the hedging relationship and
stockholders’ equity. The Company’s other comprehensivehow effectiveness of the hedging instrument will be assessed.
income is comprised of unrealized foreign currency hedgeThe Company’s policy requires that critical terms of a hedging
gains and losses, net of tax, minimum pension liabilityinstrument are essentially the same as a hedged forecasted
adjustments, net of tax, and foreign currency translationtransaction. On this basis, with respect to a cash flow hedge,
adjustments.changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged transaction

The components of accumulated other comprehensiveare generally expected to be completely offset by the cash
income at December 31, 2002 and 2001, are as follows (inflows attributable to hedge instruments. The Company, there-
millions):fore, performs quarterly assessments of hedge effectiveness

by verifying and documenting that critical terms of the hedge 2002 2001

instrument and forecasted transactions have not changed. The Net unrealized foreign currency hedge gains
Company also assesses on a quarterly basis whether there (losses) $ (8.5) $ 7.2

Cumulative translation adjustment 23.1 9.6have been adverse developments regarding the risk of a
Minimum pension liability (0.6) –counterparty default. For derivatives which qualify as hedges

of future cash flows, the effective portion of changes in fair $ 14.0 $16.8
value is temporarily recorded in other comprehensive income

Accounting Pronouncements – Effective January 1, 2002,and then recognized in earnings when the hedged item affects
the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142,net earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change
‘‘Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,’’ and SFAS No. 144in fair value, if any, is reported in net earnings.
without any material impact on its financial position, results

Stock Compensation – At December 31, 2002, the Com- of operations or cash flows.
pany has three stock-based employee compensation plans, In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143,
which are described more fully in Note 10. The Company ‘‘Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.’’ SFAS No. 143
accounts for those plans under the recognition and measure- addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations
ment principles of APB Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets
Issued to Employees,’’ and related Interpretations. No stock and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143
based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income, applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of
as all options granted under those plans had exercise prices long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction,
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on development and (or) the normal operation of a long-lived
the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on asset, except for certain obligations of lessees. SFAS No. 143
net income and earnings per share if the Company had is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, beginning after June 15, 2002. This pronouncement is not
‘‘Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,’’ to the above expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial
plans. position, results of operations or cash flows.

(in millions, except per share amounts) In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, ‘‘Account-
ing for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.’’For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000

SFAS No. 146 addresses the financial accounting and report-Net income, as reported $257.8 $149.8 $176.0
Deduct: Total stock-based employee ing for exit and disposal activities and certain costs associated

compensation expense determined with those activities. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for
under fair value based method for all a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity, other than
awards, net of tax (12.7) (13.4) (7.8)

certain one-time termination benefits, be measured initially at
Pro forma net income $245.1 $136.4 $168.2 its fair value and recognized in the period in which the

liability is incurred. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. 5. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

This pronouncement is not expected to have a material effect
Other current liabilities at December 31, 2002 and 2001,

on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or
consist of the following (in millions):

cash flows.
2002 2001On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,

Service arrangements $ 59.6 $ 49.5‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Salaries, wages and benefits 29.0 39.2Disclosure.’’ SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123, ‘‘Accounting
Accrued liabilities 76.2 62.7for Stock-Based Compensation,’’ to provide alternative meth-
Total other current liabilities $164.8 $151.4ods of transition to the fair value method of accounting for

stock-based employee compensation. SFAS No. 148 also
amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123 and APB

6. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Opinion No. 28, ‘‘Interim Financial Reporting,’’ to require

Included in Other Long-term Liabilities at December 31,disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies
2002 and 2001 were $43.5 million and $30.7 million, respec-of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy with respect to
tively, of accrued distributor benefits. The Company’s inde-stock-based employee compensation on reported net earnings
pendent distributors accrue benefits based upon Companyand earnings per share in annual and interim financial
financial performance.statements. While SFAS No. 148 does not amend SFAS

No. 123 to require companies to account for employee stock
7. DEBT options using the fair value method, the disclosure provisions

of SFAS No. 148 are applicable to all companies with stock-
Credit Facility

based employee compensation, regardless of whether they
The Company has a $600 million multi-currency, revolv-account for that compensation using the fair value method of

ing senior unsecured syndicated Credit Facility that maturesSFAS No. 123 or the intrinsic value method of APB Opinion
on July 31, 2004. Borrowings under the Credit Facility mayNo. 25. The Company adopted SFAS No. 148 on
bear interest at the appropriate LIBOR rate, depending uponDecember 31, 2002.
the currency denomination of the borrowing, or an alternative
base rate, in each case, an applicable margin determined by3. INVENTORIES 
reference to the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt

Inventories at December 31, 2002 and 2001, consist of rating and the amounts drawn under the Credit Facility.
the following (in millions): As of December 31, 2002, the Company had $156.7 mil-

2002 2001 lion in outstanding borrowings, including $156.2 under the
Finished goods $206.7 $158.4 Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2002, the Credit Facility
Raw materials and work in progress 50.9 41.6 borrowings were comprised of $82 million in U.S. dollar based

borrowings with a weighted average interest rate of 3.42 per-Inventories, net $257.6 $200.0
cent (4.35 percent as of December 31, 2001) and the

Reserves for obsolete and slow-moving inventory at equivalent of $74.2 million in Japanese Yen based borrowings
December 31, 2002 and 2001 were $45.5 million and $43.3 with a weighted average interest rate of 0.93 percent
million, respectively. Provisions charged to expense were (1.17 percent as of December 31, 2001). The borrowings
$6.0 million, $11.9 million and $12.1 million for the years under the Credit Facility have been classified as short term
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. based on the Company’s expectation it will be repaid by the
Amounts written off against the reserve were $7.1 million, end of 2003.
$8.5 million and $8.5 million for the years ended Decem- The Credit Facility is to be used for general corporate
ber 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. purposes. The Credit Facility also allows for the issuance of

letters of credit.
4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT The Credit Facility contains customary affirmative and

negative covenants and events of default for an unsecuredProperty, plant and equipment at December 31, 2002 and
financing arrangement, none of which are considered restric-2001, was as follows (in millions):
tive to the operation of the business. Financial covenants

2002 2001
include a maximum leverage ratio and a minimum interest

Land $ 8.2 $ 8.0
coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with allBuilding and equipment 354.4 320.3

Construction in progress 13.3 27.8 covenants under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2002.
Also, the Credit Facility restricts the payment of dividends375.9 356.1

Accumulated depreciation (218.1) (207.9) and the making of investments if the Company does not have
an investment grade rating, as defined. The Company’s creditProperty, plant and equipment, net $ 157.8 $ 148.2

31



Z I M M E R  H O L D I N G S ,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S 2 0 0 2  F O R M  1 0 - K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

rating as of December 31, 2002 met such requirement. Fair Value

Commitments under the Credit Facility are subject to certain
The carrying value of the Company’s borrowings approxi-

fees, including a facility and a utilization fee.
mates fair value due to their short-term maturities and

Uncommitted Credit Facilities variable interest rates.

The Company has a $26 million uncommitted unsecured
8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

revolving line of credit. The purpose of this credit line is to
support the working capital needs, letters of credit and The Company is exposed to market risk due to changes
overdraft needs for the Company. The uncommitted credit in currency exchange rates. As a result, the Company utilizes
agreement contains customary affirmative and negative cove- foreign exchange forward contracts to offset the effect of
nants and events of default, none of which are considered exchange rate fluctuations on anticipated foreign currency
restrictive to the operation of the business. In addition, this transactions, primarily intercompany sales and purchases
uncommitted credit agreement provides for unconditional expected to occur within the next twelve to twenty-four
and irrevocable guarantees by the Company. In the event the months. The Company does not hold financial instruments
Company’s long-term debt ratings by both Standard and for trading or speculative purposes. For derivatives which
Poor’s Ratings Services and Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc., qualify as hedges of future cash flows, the effective portion
fall below BB- and Ba3, then the Company may be required of changes in fair value is temporarily recorded in other
to repay all outstanding and contingent obligations. The comprehensive income, then recognized in earnings when
Company’s credit rating as of December 31, 2002 met such the hedged item affects earnings. The ineffective portion of
requirement. This uncommitted credit line matures on a derivative’s change in fair value, if any, is reported in
July 31, 2003. Outstanding borrowings under this uncommit- earnings. The net amount recognized in earnings during the
ted line of credit as of December 31, 2002 were $0.5 million years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, due to ineffective-
with a weighted average interest rate of 6.35 percent. ness and amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge

The Company also has a $15 million uncommitted effectiveness, was not significant.
revolving unsecured line of credit. The purpose of this line of The notional amounts of outstanding foreign exchange
credit is to support short-term working capital needs of the forward contracts, principally Japanese Yen and the Euro,
Company. The agreement for this uncommitted unsecured entered into with third parties, at December 31, 2002, was
line of credit contains customary covenants, none of which $252 million. The fair value of derivative instruments recorded
are considered restrictive to the operation of the business. in accrued liabilities at December 31, 2002, was $13.8 million,
This uncommitted line matures on July 31, 2003. There were or $8.5 million net of taxes, which is deferred in other
no borrowings under this uncommitted line of credit as of comprehensive income and is expected to be reclassified to
December 31, 2002. earnings over the next two years, of which, $7.7 million, or

The Company has a $20 million uncommitted revolving $4.8 million, net of taxes, is expected to be reclassified to
unsecured line of credit. The purpose of this line of credit is earnings over the next twelve months.
to support short-term working capital needs of the Company.
The pricing is based upon money market rates. The agree- 9. CAPITAL STOCK AND EARNINGS PER SHARE 

ment for this uncommitted unsecured line of credit contains
As discussed in Note 14, all of the shares of Company

customary covenants, none of which are considered restrictive
common stock were distributed at the Distribution by the

to the operation of the business. This uncommitted line
former parent to its stockholders in the form of a dividend

matures on July 31, 2003. There were no borrowings under
of one share of Company common stock, and the associated

this uncommitted line of credit as of December 31, 2002.
preferred stock purchase right, for every ten shares of

The Company was in compliance with all covenants
common stock of the former parent. In July 2001 the board

under all three of the uncommitted credit facilities as of
of directors of the Company adopted a rights agreement

December 31, 2002. The Company had no long-term debt
intended to have anti-takeover effects. Under this agreement

as of December 31, 2002.
one right attaches to each share of Company common stock.

Outstanding debt as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
The rights will not become exercisable until the earlier of:

consist of the following (in millions):
a) the Company learns that a person or group acquired, or

2002 2001 obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of securi-
Credit Facility $156.2 $358.2 ties representing more than 20 percent of the shares of
Uncommitted credit facilities 0.5 5.7 Company common stock then outstanding, or b) such date,

if any, as may be designated by the board of directorsTotal debt $156.7 $363.9
following the commencement of, or first public disclosure of

The Company paid $13.0 million and $4.6 million in an intention to commence, a tender offer or exchange offer
interest charges during 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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for shares of Company common stock then outstanding that stock units. Options granted under the 2001 Stock Incentive
could result in a person or group acquiring, or obtaining the Plan may include stock appreciation rights. The TeamShare
right to acquire, beneficial ownership of securities represent- Stock Option Plan provides for the grant of non-qualified
ing more than 20 percent of Company common stock then stock option and stock appreciation rights while the Stock
outstanding. Plan for Non-Employee Directors provides for awards of stock

The board of directors authorized for issuance 2 million options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to non-
shares of a series of preferred stock of the Company employee directors.
designated as Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Options granted under these plans generally vest over
Stock (‘‘Series A Preferred Stock’’) in connection with the three to five years, although in no event in less than one year,
adoption of the rights agreement. Shares of the Series A and expire ten years from the date of grant. Certain options
Preferred Stock are only issuable upon the exercise of the have price thresholds, which affect exercisability.
rights. No shares of the Series A Preferred Stock have been Under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, the total number
issued as of December 31, 2002. of awards which may be granted in a given year pursuant to

The board of directors may redeem all of the rights at options and other awards under the plan may not exceed
a redemption price of $0.01 per right. If not previously 1.9 percent of the outstanding shares of the Company’s stock
exercised or redeemed, the rights will expire 10 years from on the effective date of the Plan for 2001 or January 1 of
the date that the rights agreement commenced. each subsequent year, plus the number of shares from the

The numerator for both basic and diluted earnings per prior year that were available for grant but not granted, that
share is net earnings available to common stockholders. The were granted but subsequently terminated, expired, cancelled
denominator for basic earnings per share is the weighted or surrendered without being exercised or tendered in the
average number of common shares outstanding during the prior year to pay for options or satisfy tax withholding
period. The denominator for diluted earnings per share is requirements. No participant may receive options or awards
weighted average shares outstanding adjusted for the effect which in the aggregate exceed 2 million shares of stock over
of dilutive stock options. The following is a reconciliation of the life of the Plan.
weighted average shares for the basic and diluted share At the Distribution, certain options to purchase Bristol-
computations (in millions): Myers Squibb stock that were held by Company employees

were converted to Company stock options under either the
2002 2001 2000

2001 Stock Incentive Plan or the TeamShare Stock Option
Weighted average shares outstanding for

Plan. The options were converted at quantities and exercisebasic net earnings per share 194.5 193.7 193.6
prices that maintained the intrinsic value of the option as itEffect of dilutive stock options 2.3 0.6 –
existed immediately prior to the Distribution. The vesting

Weighted average shares outstanding for
dates and exercise periods of the options were not affecteddiluted net earnings per share 196.8 194.3 193.6
by the conversion.

For periods prior to the Distribution, basic and diluted A summary of the status of all options granted to
shares outstanding are assumed to be equivalent to the employees and non-employee directors at December 31 and
number of shares of Company common stock outstanding changes during the period from the distribution date is
immediately following the Distribution. presented below:

Weighted
10. STOCK OPTION AND COMPENSATION PLANS 

Options Average

(in thousands) Exercise PriceAs of December 31, 2002, the Company had three stock
Conversion of Bristol-Myers Squibboption plans in effect, the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, the

options on Distribution 8,700 $23.93TeamShare Stock Option Plan and the Stock Plan for Non-
Options granted 2,239 28.67

Employee Directors. The Company has reserved the maxi- Options exercised (129) 12.80
mum number of shares of common stock available for award Options cancelled (83) 29.88
under the terms of each of these plans and has registered

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 10,727 25.01
34.3 million shares of common stock. Options may be granted

Options granted 1,833 30.34under these plans at a price of not less than the fair market
Options exercised (1,262) 18.94

value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. The Options cancelled (263) 28.73
2001 Stock Incentive Plan provides for the grant of nonquali-

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 11,035 $26.51fied stock options and incentive stock options, long-term
performance awards, restricted stock awards and deferred
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Options Remaining Average Options Average

Range of Exercise Prices (in thousands) Contractual Life Exercise Price (in thousands) Exercise Price

$6.25 – $17.00 1,275 2.93 $10.92 1,275 $10.92
$17.01 – $27.50 3,675 6.61 24.83 2,021 24.59
$27.51 – $37.50 6,085 8.02 30.78 1,367 31.28

11,035 4,663

Options exercisable at December 31, 2002 and 2001, participant’s compensation. In addition to the U.S. and Puerto
were 4.7 million and 4.0 million, respectively, with average Rico defined benefit pension plans, the Company sponsors
exercise prices of $22.81 and $19.15, respectively. various non-U.S. pension arrangements, including retirement

The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the and termination benefit plans required by local law or
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model coordinated with government sponsored plans.
with the following assumptions: The Company also provides comprehensive medical and

group life insurance benefits to substantially all U.S. and
2002 2001 2000

Puerto Rico retirees who elect to participate in the Company’s
Dividend Yield –% –% 1.5%

comprehensive medical and group life plans. The medical planVolatility 30.3% 41.7% 24.5%
is contributory, and the life insurance plan is non-contribu-Risk-free interest rate 4.6% 4.8% 6.3%

Assumed forfeiture rate 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% tory. No similar plans exist for employees outside the U.S.
Expected life (years) 5 7 7 and Puerto Rico.

The above assumptions for 2002 and 2001 pertain to the In both the U.S. and jurisdictions outside of the U.S.,
Company, while 2000 assumptions are associated with the the Company has adopted employee benefit plans that are
Company’s former parent. comparable to those of its former parent. In general, for

The weighted average fair value for options granted purposes of determining eligibility to participate, eligibility
during 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $10.63, $14.10 and $16.34, for benefits, benefit forms and vesting under Company plans,
respectively. each active employee is credited with his or her service with

See Note 2 for the effect on net earnings and earnings the former parent to the extent the corresponding plans of
per share if the Company had applied the fair value the former parent gave credit for such service.
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock based In connection with the Distribution, the Company and its
employee compensation. former parent entered into an Employee Benefits Agreement

which allocated responsibilities relating to employee compen-
Restricted Stock

sation, benefit plans and programs and other related matters.
At the Distribution, certain members of management had Under the agreement, as of a specified date, active employees

restricted stock grants for Bristol-Myers Squibb stock which of the Company ceased to be active participants in benefit
were converted into Company restricted stock grants at plans maintained by the former parent and became eligible
quantities and prices that maintained the intrinsic value that to participate in all applicable Company plans.
existed immediately prior to the Distribution. Total converted The agreement provides that, as of the Distribution,
grants represented 106,560 shares at the Distribution. Subse- the Company assumed, retained and is liable for all wages,
quent to the Distribution, restrictions on 32,578 and salaries, welfare, incentive compensation and other employee-
20,361 shares were eliminated in 2002 and 2001, respectively. related obligations and liabilities for all current and former
In addition, restricted stock grants were made for 50,200 and employees of the Company, except as specifically provided
33,681 shares in 2002 and 2001, respectively. The awards are otherwise. The former parent retained certain obligations for
being expensed over the vesting period of five years from domestic pension benefits for services rendered through the
date of grant and the expense recorded by the Company for Distribution. The former parent also retained obligations for
all periods presented was not significant. medical and group life insurance benefits for all domestic

retirees and those employees eligible to retire as of the
11. RETIREMENT AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS Distribution. Substantially all assets funding its pension and

postretirement benefit plans were retained by the former
The Company has defined benefit pension plans covering

parent.
substantially all U.S. and Puerto Rico employees. Plan benefits
are primarily based on years of credited service and the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The components of net pension expense as of December 31 for the Company’s defined benefit retirement plans subsequent
to the Distribution are as follows (in millions):

U.S. and Puerto Rico Non-U.S.

2002 2001 2002 2001

Service cost $ 7.2 $2.3 $ 2.0 $ 1.4
Interest cost 2.0 0.7 0.7 0.5
Expected return on plan assets (1.2) – (1.0) (0.5)
Amortization of prior service cost 0.1 – – –
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss 0.1 – 0.2 (0.1)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 8.2 $3.0 $ 1.9 $ 1.3

The weighted average actuarial assumptions used in accounting for the Company’s defined benefit retirement plans were as
follows:

U.S. and Puerto Rico Non-U.S.

2002 2001 2002 2001

Discount rate 7.00% 7.25% 4.17% 3.64%
Rate of compensation increase 3.60% 3.50% 3.17% 2.92%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 5.95% 5.68%

Changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, for December 31, 2002 and 2001 for the Company’s pension plans, were
(in millions):

U.S. and Puerto Rico Non-U.S.

2002 2001 2002 2001

Benefit obligation – beginning of year $ 25.5 $ – $13.3 $ 12.6
Obligation assumed from former parent – 22.6 3.9 3.3
Plan amendments (1.6) – – –
Service cost 7.2 2.3 2.0 1.3
Interest cost 2.0 0.7 0.7 0.5
Benefits paid (0.1) (0.1) (0.6) (2.6)
Actuarial (gain) loss 9.5 – 0.6 (0.1)
Exchange rate gain (loss) – – 1.7 (1.7)

Benefit obligation – end of year $ 42.5 $ 25.5 $21.6 $ 13.3

Plan assets at fair market value – beginning of year $ 2.2 $ – $12.5 $ 12.6
Assets contributed by former parent – 2.3 3.6 3.1
Actual return on plan assets (1.0) – (2.0) (0.5)
Company contributions 20.7 – 2.7 1.6
Benefits paid (0.2) (0.1) (0.6) (2.6)
Expenses (0.3) – – –
Exchange rate gain (loss) – – 1.1 (1.7)

Plan assets at fair market value – end of year $ 21.4 $ 2.2 $17.3 $ 12.5

Funded status $(21.1) $(23.3) $(4.3) $ (0.8)
Unrecognized prior service cost (1.5) 0.2 – 0.1
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss 9.8 (2.2) 8.4 4.4

Net amount recognized $(12.8) $(25.3) $ 4.1 $ 3.7

Amounts recognized in consolidated balance sheet:
Prepaid pension $ – $ – $ 5.0 $ 4.4
Accrued benefit liability (13.9) (25.3) (0.9) (0.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1.1 – – –

Net amount recognized $(12.8) $(25.3) $ 4.1 $ 3.7
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit $6.0 million and $10.0 million for the years ended Decem-
obligation and fair value of plan assets for the Company’s ber 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
U.S. and Puerto Rico pension plans with accumulated benefit The Company also sponsors defined contribution plans
obligations in excess of plan assets were $38.9 million, for substantially all of the U.S. and Puerto Rico employees.
$21.5 million and $20.5 million, respectively, as of The principal defined contribution plan is the Zimmer Hold-
December 31, 2002 and $25.5 million, $8.8 million and ings, Inc. Savings and Investment Program. The Company’s
$2.2 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2001. contribution under this plan is based on employee contribu-

The components of net periodic expense as of tions and the level of company match. The Company
December 31 for the Company’s postretirement benefit plans recognized $3.5 million, $3.0 million and $3.0 million of
subsequent to the Distribution are as follows (in millions): expense for the savings and investment program for the years

ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
December 31, 2002 2001

Service cost $1.1 $0.5
12. INCOME TAXES Interest cost 1.2 0.5

The components of earnings before taxes consist of theNet periodic benefit cost $2.3 $1.0
following (in millions):

The weighted average actuarial assumptions used in
2002 2001 2000accounting for the Company’s postretirement benefit plans

United States operations $292.0 $200.4 $211.0were as follows:
Foreign operations 96.9 40.5 57.0

December 31, 2002 2001
Total $388.9 $240.9 $268.0

Discount rate 7.00% 7.25%
Initial health care cost trend rate 10.00% 9.00% The provision for income taxes consists of (in millions):
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 5.00% 5.00%

Current:First year of ultimate trend rate 2012 2008
Federal $ 79.9 $ 68.8 $58.2

Changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, from the State 12.9 15.9 10.8
Distribution to December 31, 2002 for the Company’s postre- Foreign 34.4 28.6 26.0
tirement benefit plans, were (in millions):

127.2 113.3 95.0
December 31, 2002 2001

Deferred:
Benefit obligation – beginning of year $ 18.1 $ – Federal 3.3 (9.5) 2.7
Obligation assumed from former parent – 17.1 State (1.3) (1.6) 0.3
Service cost 1.1 0.5 Foreign 1.9 (11.1) (6.0)
Interest cost 1.2 0.5

3.9 (22.2) (3.0)Actuarial loss 0.1 –

$131.1 $ 91.1 $92.0Benefit obligation – end of year $ 20.5 $ 18.1

Funded status $(20.5) $(18.1) For periods prior to the Distribution, the income tax
Unrecognized prior service cost (0.1) (0.1) provision was calculated on a separate return basis while
Unrecognized actuarial loss 2.1 2.0 actual tax payments were made on a combined return basis
Net amount recognized $(18.5) $(16.2) by the Company’s former parent. Income taxes paid by the

Company during 2002 and 2001 (for the period after theAccrued benefit liability recognized $(18.5) $(16.2)
Distribution) were $114.2 million and $43.4 million,

As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company has respectively.
no assets in its postretirement benefit plans.

A one percentage point change in the assumed health
care cost trend rates would have no significant effect on the
service and interest cost components of net postretirement
benefit expense and the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation. The effect of a change in the healthcare cost trend
rate is tempered by a cap that limits medical costs to be paid
by the Company.

Included in the consolidated statement of earnings are
allocations from the Company’s former parent for expenses
specifically attributable to the Company’s employees’ partici-
pation in its retirement and postretirement benefit plans for
periods prior to the Distribution. Amounts included were
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A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to qualify as a tax-free transaction. Such a ruling, while generally
the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows: binding upon the IRS, is subject to certain factual representa-

tions and assumptions. The Company has agreed to certain2002 2001 2000

restrictions on its future actions to provide further assurancesU.S. statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
that the Distribution will qualify as tax-free. If the CompanyState taxes, net of federal deduction 3.0 3.9 2.7

Foreign income taxes at rates different fails to abide by such restrictions and, as a result, the
from the U.S. statutory rate, net of Distribution fails to qualify as a tax-free transaction, the
foreign tax credits – 0.9 (1.0) Company will be obligated to indemnify its former parent for

Tax benefit relating to operations in
any resulting tax liability.Puerto Rico (2.6) (2.6) (1.2)

Earnings of Foreign Sales Corporation (1.1) (1.4) (1.8) Under the Tax Sharing Agreement (the ‘‘Agreement’’)
R&D Credit (0.6) (0.1) – executed in conjunction with the Distribution, the Company’s
Non-deductible separation costs – 1.9 –

former parent retains control and discretion with regard toOther – 0.2 0.6
any federal, foreign, combined, consolidated and certain

Effective income tax rate 33.7% 37.8% 34.3% separate state tax filings or tax audits for periods through the
Distribution and retains all refunds for such periods. TheDeferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of
Agreement was amended to clarify the Company is responsi-temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
ble for 25 percent of tax audit assessments in foreignand liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
jurisdictions for periods prior to the Distribution up to aamounts used for income tax purposes. The components of
cumulative maximum of $5 million.deferred income taxes consisted of the following (in millions):

At December 31, 2002, the Company had an aggregate of2002 2001

$53.7 million of unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiariesInventory $ 40.1 $ 39.1
that have been, or are intended to be, permanently reinvestedDepreciation 36.3 30.6

Accrued liabilities 37.4 40.1 for continued use in foreign operations. If the total undistrib-
Other 8.9 6.2 uted earnings of foreign subsidiaries were remitted, a signifi-

$122.7 $116.0 cant amount of the additional tax would be offset by the
allowable foreign tax credits.

The Company’s former parent received a ruling from the
Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’), that the Distribution would

13. SEGMENT DATA 

The Company designs, develops, manufactures and markets orthopaedic reconstructive implants, trauma products and
orthopaedic surgical products which include surgical supplies and equipment designed to aid in orthopaedic procedures and to
accommodate patient rehabilitation needs post surgery. Operations are managed through three major geographic areas – the
Americas, which is comprised principally of the United States and includes other North, Central and South American markets;
Asia Pacific, which is comprised primarily of Japan and includes other Asian and Pacific markets; and Europe, which is
comprised principally of the major countries of Europe as well as the Middle East and Africa. This structure is the basis for the
Company’s reportable segment information discussed below. Segment performance is evaluated based on sales and segment
operating profit, exclusive of separation costs and operating expenses pertaining to global operations and corporate expenses.
Included in segment operating profit is a cost of capital charge which is offset in global operations. Global operations include
U.S. based research, development engineering, brand management, corporate legal, finance, human resource functions, and
operations and logistics.

Net sales, segment operating profit and year-end assets are as follows (in millions):

Net Sales Operating Profit Year-End Assets

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001

Americas $ 932.9 $ 790.7 $ 655.4 $ 434.1 $ 356.3 $ 313.4 $597.2 $530.7
Asia Pacific 269.6 255.2 264.5 117.8 104.9 100.9 158.9 141.2
Europe 169.9 132.7 120.7 35.7 20.7 18.5 102.8 73.1

Net sales $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6

Separation costs – (70.0) –
Global operations and corporate expenses (186.7) (163.6) (164.8)

Operating profit $ 400.9 $ 248.3 $ 268.0

Total assets $858.9 $745.0
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

benefits, travel and meeting services, public and investorProduct category:
relations, real estate services, internal audit, corporate avia-

2002 2001 2000
tion and related services, telecommunications, computing

Reconstructive implants $1,061.7 $ 886.5 $ 764.5
services, corporate income tax and selected legal services.Trauma 133.8 128.3 123.4
Management of the Company believes that the methods usedOrthopaedic surgical products 176.9 163.8 152.7
to allocate expenses to the Company for these services were

Total $1,372.4 $1,178.6 $1,040.6
reasonable, although it cannot be assured that all the

Depreciation expenses were $25.3 million, $23.4 million expenses that would have been incurred had the Company
and $23.1 million and additions to fixed and other assets were been a separate, standalone entity have been reflected in
$33.7 million, $54.7 million and $29.0 million for the years financial results prior to the Distribution. These services
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and accounted for a total expense of $17.2 million for the period
related principally to the Company’s U.S. and Puerto Rico January 1, 2001 through the Distribution, and $29.9 million
facilities. for the year ended December 31, 2000.

The Company and its former parent entered into an
14. SEPARATION FROM BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB COMPANY Interim Services Agreement pursuant to which the former

parent provided the Company, on an interim, transitional
The Company was incorporated in Delaware as a wholly-

basis, various services, including, but not limited to, employee
owned subsidiary of Bristol-Myers Squibb, its former parent,

benefits administration and information technology services.
on January 12, 2001. On July 25, 2001, Bristol-Myers Squibb

The agreed upon charges for such services were intended to
transferred the assets and liabilities of its orthopaedic busi-

allow the former parent to recover fully the allocated costs
ness to the Company. On August 6, 2001, Bristol-Myers

of providing the services. The Interim Services Agreement
Squibb distributed all of the shares of Company common

expired on December 31, 2002, except with respect to
stock to Bristol-Myers Squibb stockholders in the form of a

information technology services, which will remain in effect
dividend of one share of Company common stock and the

until the Company completes the transition to an alternative
associated preferred stock purchase right, for every 10 shares

service provider, expected by mid year 2003.
of Bristol-Myers Squibb common stock. The Distribution
qualified as a tax-free distribution made under Section 355

16. LEASES 
and 368(a)(1)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as
more fully-described in Note 12. On August 6, 2001, the Future minimum rental commitments under non-cancel-
Company assumed all obligations under the Credit Facility able operating leases in effect as of December 31, 2002 were
established by the Company and its former parent with then $8.3 million for 2003, $7.0 million for 2004, $5.7 million for
outstanding borrowings of $290 million. With additional 2005, $4.4 million for 2006, $2.9 million for 2007 and
borrowings under the Credit Facility, the Company repaid $8.6 million thereafter. Total rent expense for the years ended
amounts due to its former parent of approximately December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 aggregated $9.1 million,
$90 million, and finally, the Company assumed an additional $5.7 million and $6.0 million, respectively.
$22 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility for
separation costs. The Company also recognized certain liabili- 17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
ties and obligations for pension, post-retirement, long-term

The Company is subject to product liability and other
disability and U.S. sales agent benefits. Recognition of these

claims arising in the ordinary course of business, for which
liabilities and obligations reduced the net investment in

the Company maintains insurance, subject to self-insured
Zimmer by its former parent.

retention limits. The Company establishes accruals for prod-
The Company incurred $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of

uct liability and other claims in conjunction with outside
taxes) in costs, fees and expenses relating to the separation

counsel based on current information and historical settle-
from its former parent and distribution of Company common

ment information for open claims, related fees and for claims
stock to the Bristol-Myers Squibb stockholders. These costs,

incurred but not reported. While it is not possible to predict
fees and expenses were primarily for retention bonuses; legal

with certainty the outcome of these cases, it is the opinion of
separation matters; professional expenses; and costs of pro-

management that these cases will not have a material adverse
ducing, printing, mailing and distributing the information

effect on the consolidated financial position, results of
statement related to the Distribution.

operations or cash flows of the Company.
In addition to product liability, the Company is subject to

15. TRANSACTIONS WITH FORMER PARENT 
other lawsuits and claims arising in the ordinary course of

Prior to the Distribution, the former parent of the business, none of which are expected to have, upon ultimate
Company provided certain services, including administration resolution, a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
of treasury, insurance, payroll, employee compensation and financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Pursuant to the Company’s exclusive distribution and commitments. Such commitments are in line with the Com-
strategic alliance with Implex Corporation relating to pany’s expectation and product development plans with
Trabecular Metal products and technology and other prod- regard to the products covered under this agreement.
ucts, the Company is subject to annual minimum purchase

18. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) 

(in millions, except per share data)

2001 Quarter Ended 2002 Quarter Ended

Mar Jun Sep Dec Mar Jun Sep Dec

Net sales $286.0 $294.3 $286.7 $311.6 $319.1 $345.6 $337.5 $370.2
Gross profit 204.9 212.8 211.7 227.6 238.3 260.4 252.4 276.5
Net earnings(1) 36.0 43.2 27.4 43.2 54.6 65.9 65.1 72.2
Net earnings per common share:

Basic 0.19 0.22 0.14 0.22 0.28 0.34 0.33 0.37
Diluted 0.19 0.22 0.14 0.22 0.28 0.34 0.33 0.37

(1) 2001 net earnings include $70.0 million ($49.9 million net of tax) in costs relating to the separation of the Company from its former parent.
Net earnings also include $7.4 million ($4.7 million net of tax) of interest expense for the period from the Distribution to December 31,
2001.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None
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Part III

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Executive Officers of the Company

Name Age Position

J. Raymond Elliott 53 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Sheryl L. Conley 42 President, Zimmer Reconstructive

James T. Crines 43 Vice President, Controller

David C. Dvorak 39 Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs, General Counsel and Secretary

John S. Krelle 51 President, Zimmer Spine/Trauma

Sam R. Leno 57 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Bruno A. Melzi 55 President, Europe/MEA

Stephen H. L. Ooi 49 President, Asia Pacific

Bruce E. Peterson 54 President, Americas

J. Raymond Elliott was appointed Chairman on August 6, 2001 Sheryl L. Conley was named President, Zimmer Reconstructive
and President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in September 2002. From May 2000 to September 2002, she
on March 20, 2001. Mr. Elliott was appointed President of served as Vice President, Global Brand Management and
Zimmer, Inc., the Company’s predecessor (‘‘Zimmer, Inc.’’), Commercialization, where she was responsible for the Com-
in November 1997. Mr. Elliott has approximately 30 years of pany’s worldwide branding, marketing and new product
experience in orthopaedics, medical devices and consumer development efforts. Ms. Conley was General Manager, Zim-
products. Prior to joining Zimmer, Inc., he served as President mer Canada, from 1998 to 2000. In 1994, she was selected to
and Chief Executive Officer of Cybex, Inc., a publicly traded lead the initial product development and brand marketing
medical rehabilitation and cardiovascular products company, effort for the VerSys Hip System. Ms. Conley joined Zimmer,
from September 1995 to June 1997, and previously as Inc. in 1983 and has held management positions in marketing,
President and Chief Executive Officer of J.R. Elliott & operations and clinical research. She holds a bachelor’s
Associates, a privately held M&A firm. During this time, degree in Biology and Chemistry and an MBA from Ball State
Mr. Elliott successfully completed several M&A and turn- University.
around projects for the federal government and numerous

James T. Crines joined Zimmer, Inc. in 1997 as Director of
healthcare firms, including the role of Chairman and Chief

Finance. On July 1, 2001, he was appointed Vice President,
Executive Officer for Cablecom Inc. Mr. Elliott has also served

Controller after serving as Vice President, Finance and
as Chairman and President of various divisions of Southam,

Information Technology since September 2000. Mr. Crines
Inc., a communications group, and as Group President of food

served Zimmer, Inc. as Director of Finance and Logistics,
and beverage leader John Labatt, Inc. (now Interbrew Corp.).

Japan from May 1999 until September 2000. Mr. Crines served
He began his career in the healthcare industry with American

as Associate Director, Accounting at Bristol-Myers Squibb
Hospital Supply Corporation (later Baxter International),

from September 1995 until he joined Zimmer, Inc. Mr. Crines
where he gained 15 years experience in sales, marketing,

has over 20 years of experience in corporate and operations
operations, business development and general management,

finance and accounting, including five years as an auditor with
leading to his appointment as President of the Far East

Price Waterhouse from 1981 to 1986. He was employed by
divisions, based in Tokyo, Japan. Mr. Elliott has served as a

American Cyanamid from 1986 to 1995 and served in a
director on more than 15 business-related boards in the U.S.,

variety of increasingly important financial roles, culminating in
Canada, Japan and Europe and has served on three occasions

his promotion to Division Controller of its global animal health
as Chairman. He is currently a director of the State of Indiana

and nutrition businesses in 1993. Mr. Crines holds a bache-
Workplace Development Board and a trustee of the

lor’s degree in accounting from the University of Scranton and
Orthopaedic Research and Education Foundation (‘‘OREF’’).

an M.B.A. from Rutgers University and is a Certified Public
He is a member of the board of directors and chair of the

Accountant.
orthopaedic sector of the Advanced Medical Technology
Association (AdvaMed). He holds a bachelor’s degree from
the University of Western Ontario, Canada.
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David C. Dvorak was appointed Senior Vice President, Corpo- Bruno A. Melzi joined Zimmer, Inc. in 1990 as Managing
rate Affairs and General Counsel of the Company effective Director, Italy. In March 2000, Mr. Melzi was promoted from
December 6, 2001. He also serves as Corporate Secretary, Vice President and Managing Director of Italy, Germany and
effective February 1, 2003. Prior to his appointment, Switzerland, a position he held since October of 1997, to
Mr. Dvorak served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel his current position of President, Europe/MEA. Mr. Melzi has
and Corporate Secretary and was a member of the Executive over 27 years of experience in the orthopaedics and medical
Committee of STERIS Corporation, an Ohio-based leader in products industry. He has previously served as General
medical sterilization and infection control products. Prior to Manager and member of the Board of Directors of Johnson &
joining STERIS in 1996, Mr. Dvorak practiced corporate law Johnson Italy from 1983 to 1990, as Smith & Nephew’s
at two large Cleveland, Ohio, law firms, focusing on mergers Business Director for Italy from 1982 to 1983 and as
and acquisitions and on securities law. Mr. Dvorak holds a Executive Marketing Director for Johnson & Johnson’s
B.S. degree in Business Administration from Miami University Ethicon suture division from 1980 to 1982. Mr. Melzi holds
in Oxford, Ohio, and a J.D. degree, magna cum laude, from a degree in law from the University of Pavia, Italy.
Case Western Reserve University School of Law in Cleveland,

Stephen H. L. Ooi is President, Asia Pacific, a position he has
Ohio.

held since September 2002. Mr. Ooi joined Zimmer in 1986. In
John S. Krelle joined Zimmer, Inc. in 1987. He was named 1987, he was named General Manager, Asia, and in 1990 was
President, Zimmer Spine/Trauma in September 2002. From promoted to Vice President, Asia. Mr. Ooi has more than
June 2000 to September 2002, he served as President, Asia 20 years experience in the orthopaedics and medical products
Pacific based in Tokyo, Japan. Prior to this, he was Vice industry. He previously held positions with the Singapore
President and General Manager for Canada, Latin America Ministry of Health and with Johnson & Johnson. Mr. Ooi holds
and Asia Pacific. Mr. Krelle has over 20 years of experience a bachelor’s degree in Pharmacy from the University of
in the orthopaedics and medical products industry; and his Singapore and an MBA from the National University of
previous responsibilities with Zimmer, Inc. include Vice Singapore.
President, Patient Care Global Marketing and Development

Bruce E. Peterson was appointed President, Americas of Zimmer,
and Vice President, Global Knee Marketing. Prior to 1987,

Inc. effective July 1, 2001. He joined Zimmer, Inc. in 1995 as
he held positions in sales, marketing and management with

Senior Vice President, U.S. Sales and Marketing and was given
Schering AG. Mr. Krelle holds a bachelor’s degree in mechani-

additional responsibility for Canada and Latin America in
cal engineering and an M.B.A. from Sussex University, U.K.

May 2000. Mr. Peterson has over 25 years of sales, marketing and
Sam R. Leno was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief management experience in the orthopaedics industry, including
Financial Officer of the Company effective July 16, 2001. Prior eight years with Johnson & Johnson Orthopaedics from 1975
to his appointment, Mr. Leno served as Senior Vice President to 1983, three previous years from 1984 to 1986 with Zimmer,
and Chief Financial Officer of Arrow Electronics, Inc., a global Inc. and nine years as Distributor Principal and President of
distributor of electronic components, a position he held from Great Lakes Orthopaedics from 1986 to 1995. Mr. Peterson
March 1999 until he joined the Company. From July 1995 holds a bachelor’s degree from Youngstown State University.
until February 1999, Mr. Leno served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Corporate Express,

Information relating to the directors will appear in the
Inc., a global supplier of office products and services. He

section entitled ‘‘Directors and Nominee’’ in the definitive Proxy
served as Chief Financial Officer of Coram Healthcare, which

Statement to be dated March 24, 2003, and to be filed with the
specializes in home IV infusion, from 1994 until 1995. From

Commission relating to the Company’s 2003 Annual Meeting of
1971 to 1994, Mr. Leno held several financial positions of

Stockholders, which section is incorporated herein by reference.
increasing responsibility at Baxter International, Inc., formerly
American Hospital Supply Corporation, including Vice Presi-
dent, Finance and Information Technology, Hospital Business,
from 1989-1994, Vice President, Financial Planning and
Analysis, from 1988 to 1989, and Vice President, Corporate
Restructuring, from 1986 until 1988. Prior to joining American
Hospital Supply, he served as a U.S. Naval Officer. Mr. Leno
holds a B.S. degree in Accounting from Northern Illinois
University and a M.B.A. from Roosevelt University.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item concerning remu-
neration of the Company’s officers and Directors and informa-
tion concerning material transactions involving such officers
and Directors is incorporated herein by reference from the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2003 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders which will be filed with the Commis-
sion pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end
of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item concerning the
stock ownership of management and five percent beneficial
owners and related stockholder matters is incorporated herein
by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement
for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which will be
filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within
120 days after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item concerning certain
relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein
by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement
for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which will be
filed with the Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A within
120 days after the end of the Company’s last fiscal year.

ITEM 14. Controls and Procedures 

Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, the
Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and
with participation of the Company’s management, including
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of the evaluation
date. There were no significant changes in the Company’s
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to the evaluation date.
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Part IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 

(a) 1. Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are set forth in Part II, Item 8.

Report of Independent Accountants

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in
the financial statements or the notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required to be filed as part of this report is set forth in the Index to Exhibits, which immediately
precedes such exhibits, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ZIMMER HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s / J. RAYMOND ELLIOTT

J. Raymond Elliott
Chairman of the Board,

President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 11, 2003
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s / J. RAYMOND ELLIOTT Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive March 11, 2003
Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)J. Raymond Elliott

/s / SAM R. LENO Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 11, 2003
(Principal Financial Officer)Sam R. Leno

/s/ JAMES T. CRINES Vice President, Controller (Principal Accounting Officer) March 11, 2003

James T. Crines

/s/ LARRY C. GLASSCOCK Director March 11, 2003

Larry C. Glasscock

/s/ REGINA E. HERZLINGER Director March 11, 2003

Regina E. Herzlinger

/s/ JOHN L. MCGOLDRICK Director March 11, 2003

John L. McGoldrick

/s/ AUGUSTUS A. WHITE III Director March 11, 2003

Augustus A. White III
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Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, J. Raymond Elliott, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Zimmer Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior
to the filing date of this annual report (the ‘‘Evaluation Date’’); and

c. presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any
material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes
in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most
recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 11, 2003

J. Raymond Elliott
Chairman of the Board, President,

Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Sam R. Leno, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Zimmer Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to
the filing date of this annual report (the ‘‘Evaluation Date’’); and

c. presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based
on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any
material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes
in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most
recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Date: March 11, 2003

Sam R. Leno
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
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Index to Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

2 Contribution and Distribution Agreement between Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated
as of August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K/ A dated
December 7, 2001)

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Zimmer Holdings, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

3.2 Certificate of Designations of Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock of Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated as of
August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13,
2001)

3.3 Restated Bylaws of Zimmer Holdings, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Current Report on
Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

4.1 Specimen Common Stock certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 3 to
Registration Statement on Form 10, dated July 6, 2001)

4.2 Rights Agreement between Zimmer Holdings, Inc. and Mellon Investor Services LLC, as Rights Agent, dated as of
August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13,
2001)

4.3 Specimen Right Certificate (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit B to the Rights Agreement filed as Exhibit 4.2
hereto)

4.4 Amendment No. 1 dated June 15, 2002 to the Rights Agreement dated July 30, 2001 between Zimmer Holdings, Inc.
and Mellon Investor Services, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 17, 2002)

10.1 Contribution and Distribution Agreement between Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated as
of August 6, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 2 hereto)

10.2 Interim Services Agreement between Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated as of August 6,
2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.3* Employee Benefits Agreement between Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated as of
August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13,
2001)

10.4 Tax Sharing Agreement between Bristol-Myers Squibb Company and Zimmer Holdings, Inc., dated as of August 6,
2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.5* Zimmer Holdings, Inc. 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, effective August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2001)

10.6* Zimmer Holdings, Inc. Executive Performance Incentive Plan, effective August 6, 2001 (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2001)

10.7* Zimmer Holdings, Inc. Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective August 6, 2001 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.6 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2001)

10.8* Zimmer Holdings, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective August 6, 2001
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2001)

10.9 Three Year Competitive Advance and Revolving Credit Facility among Zimmer Holdings, Inc., Zimmer, Inc., Zimmer
K.K., Zimmer LTD. and the lenders named therein, dated as of July 31, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2001)

10.10 First Amendment to Three Year Competitive Advance and Revolving Credit Facility among Zimmer Holdings, Inc.,
Zimmer, Inc., Zimmer K.K., Zimmer LTD. and the lenders named therein, dated as of December 10, 2001
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 13, 2002)

10.11 Guarantee Assumption Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2002, made by each of the signatories thereto in favor of the
lenders named in the Three Year Competitive Advance and Revolving Credit Facility Agreement dated as of July 31,
2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 9, 2002)
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Exhibit No. Description

10.12* Zimmer Holdings, Inc. Long-Term Disability Income Plan for Highly Compensated Employees (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.13* Compensation Agreement of J. Raymond Elliott (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Current Report
on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.14* Compensation Agreement of Bruce E. Peterson (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to Current Report
on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.15* Compensation Agreement of Bruno A. Melzi (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed March 13, 2002)

10.16* Compensation Agreement of John S. Loveman-Krelle (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Current
Report on Form 8-K dated November 13, 2001)

10.17* Change in Control Severance Agreement with J. Raymond Elliott (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2002)

10.18* Change in Control Severance Agreement with Sam R. Leno, Bruno A. Melzi, John S. Loveman-Krelle, Bruce E.
Peterson and David C. Dvorak (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed May 8, 2002)

10.19* Change in Control Severance Agreement with James T. Crines (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2002)

10.20* Change in Control Severance Agreement with Sheryl L. Conley

10.21* Change in Control Severance Agreement with Stephen H. L. Ooi

10.22 $26,000,000 Uncommitted Standard Instrument Line of Credit between Zimmer, Inc. and subsidiaries and Bank of
America, N.A. and its affiliates and subsidiaries dated July 17, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23
to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 13, 2002)

10.23 Amendment No. 1 to Letter Agreement dated July 17, 2001 between Zimmer, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. dated
July 26, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 13,
2002)

10.24 Amendment No. 2 to Letter Agreement dated July 17, 2002 between Zimmer, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. dated
February 5, 2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 8,
2002)

10.25 Uncommitted Credit Agreement between Zimmer, Inc. and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation dated October 29,
2001 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 13, 2002)

10.26 First Amendment dated July 15, 2002 to the Uncommitted Credit Agreement dated October 29, 2001 between
Zimmer, Inc. and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed November 12, 2002)

10.27 $20,000,000 Uncommitted Line of Credit between Zimmer Holdings, Inc. and Fleet National Bank dated October 16,
2002 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 12, 2002)

21 List of Subsidiaries of Zimmer Holdings, Inc.

23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

99.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Executive Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Chief Financial Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements
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LARRY C. GLASSCOCK
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JOHN L. McGOLDRICK
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Professor of 
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Vice President 
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JAMES P. SIMPSON

Vice President 
Regulatory and 
Government Affairs

Shareholder Information

ZIMMER HOLDINGS, INC.

345 E. Main Street
Warsaw, IN 46580
(574) 267-6131 
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Mellon Investor Services
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South Hackensack, N.J. 07606
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listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) under 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Indianapolis, IN 
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information, please visit 
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www.zimmer.com 
or call (866) 688-7656.

Patients have a passion to live. 
Zimmer is leading advances in orthopaedics —
including Minimally Invasive SolutionsTM (MIS)
Procedures and Technologies — to help 
patients maintain the lifestyles they enjoy.

Surgeons have a passion to heal. 
Zimmer offers effective solutions — along with
access to information, transfer of skill sets, 
and support — to give surgeons confidence that
they’re providing the highest-quality patient 
care possible.

Zimmer has a passion to be the best. 
For patients, surgeons, and shareholders, 
Zimmer means leadership, quality, and innovation
in orthopaedics. We help surgeons help patients
live life big.



live life big.Zimmer Holdings, Inc.
345 East Main Street
P.O. Box 708
Warsaw, Indiana 46580
www.zimmer.com

Orthopaedics will never be the same.

Like the ripples created by a single drop of water, 
we believe Zimmer MISTM Technologies and Procedures 
will dramatically improve patient quality of life — and 

change the way orthopaedic care is delivered.
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